

Department of Defense Legacy Resource Management Program

Project No. 05-264

Multi-species Management Using Modeling and Decision Theory Applications to Integrated Natural Resources Management Planning

Dawn M. Lawson, Naval Facilities Engineering Command Southwest Helen M. Regan, Biology Department, University of Ca, Riverside and Toni L. Mizerek, Naval Facilities Engineering Command Southwest

June 2008

This document is unclassified and may be released to the public.

Report Documentation Page				Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188		
Public reporting burden for the collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington VA 22202-4302. Respondents should be aware that notwithstanding any other provision of law, no person shall be subject to a penalty for failing to comply with a collection of information if it does not display a currently valid OMB control number.						
1. REPORT DATE JUN 2008		2. REPORT TYPE		3. DATES COVERED 00-00-2008 to 00-00-2008		
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE					5a. CONTRACT NUMBER	
Multi-species Management Using Modeling and Decision Theory				5b. GRANT NUMBER		
Applications to Integrated Natural Resources Management Planning				5c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER		
6. AUTHOR(S)				5d. PROJECT NUMBER		
				5e. TASK NUMBER		
				5f. WORK UNIT NUMBER		
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) Naval Facilities Engineering Command Southwest,San Diego,CA,92132				8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER		
9. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)			10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)			
				11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S)		
12. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY STATEMENT Approved for public release; distribution unlimited						
13. SUPPLEMENTARY NO	DTES					
14. ABSTRACT						
15. SUBJECT TERMS						
16. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF: 17. LIMITATION OF			18. NUMBER	19a. NAME OF		
a. REPORT unclassified	b. ABSTRACT unclassified	c. THIS PAGE unclassified	ABSTRACT Same as Report (SAR)	OF PAGES 70	RESPONSIBLE PERSON	

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8-98) Prescribed by ANSI Std Z39-18







Applications to Integrated Natural Resources Management Planning

June 2008



MULTI-SPECIES MANAGEMENT USING MODELING AND DECISION THEORY:

APPLICATIONS TO INTEGRATED NATURAL RESOURCES MANAGEMENT PLANNING

June 2008

Prepared by

Dawn M. Lawson^{1,2} Helen M. Regan³ and Toni L. Mizerek¹

Funded by Department of Defense, Legacy Resource Management Program Project No. 05-264

Cover Photo Credits – from top left 1) Engelmann oak and fire (D.M. Lawson); 2) Orcutt's spineflower (D.M. Lawson); 3) Dead wart-stemmed ceanothus (D.M. Lawson); 4) San Clemente Island sage sparrow (Nicole Munkwitz) 5) Live wartstemmed ceanothus (D.M. Lawson) 6) California Least Tern (Steven Eric Smith)

¹ Naval Facilities Engineering Command Southwest, 1220 Pacific Hwy, San Diego, Ca 92132

² Email Dawn.Lawson@Navy.Mil

³ Biology Department, University of California, Riverside

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0	INTRODUCTION	
2.0	BACKGROUND	6
3.0	POPULATION VIABILITY ANALYSIS (PVA)	9
4.0	VALIDITY OF PVAS FOR CONSERVATION:	
5.0	THE USE OF PVA PREDICTIONS IN CONSERVATION PLANNING:	
6.0	MODEL TESTING AND VALIDATION:	14
7.0	UNCERTAINTY IN PVA	14
8.0	SINGLE SPECIES MODELS	
9.0	MULTI-SPECIES MODELING AND MANAGEMENT	
9.1	Multi-species Management	
9.2	Trade-offs and Goal Conflicts	
9.3	Multi-species Modeling	24
10.0	INCORPORATING CLIMATE CHANGE	
11.0	DECISION THEORY	
12.0	MULTI-CRITERIA DECISION METHODS	
12.	1 Value Conflicts	
12.	2 Structuring Decisions to Incorporate Risk Analysis	
13.0	DECISIONS UNDER SEVERE UNCERTAINTY	
14.0	SPATIAL DECISION SUPPORT SYSTEMS (SDSS)	
15.0	ECOLOGICAL AND MANAGEMENT STATUS MEASURES (METRICS)	
16.0	ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT	
17.0	DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	
18.0	BIBLIOGRAPHY	
APPE	ENDIX: SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS	A-1

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Decision Theoretic Framework. Red boxes represent the planning and analysis phase. Blue boxes represent plan implementation and initiation of adaptive management. Steps six and seven generate management tasks (modified from Akçakaya et al. 1999)
Figure 2. Schematic representation of a stage based population dynamical model. Ovals signify significant life stages and parameters denoted by S represent survival within and between stages and by F represent fecundities
Figure 3. Vital rate matrix. The lower 3 rows include survival parameters and the top row consists of fecundities. The subscripts refer to the stages. Thus, aw21 is the survival rate for stage 1 individuals that survive and transition into stage 2
Figure 4. A hypothetical impact analysis where new vital rates are estimated for habitat fragmented by a road
Figure 5. Model simulation results comparing the probability of extinction for San Clemente Sage Sparrows based on various management strategies tested. Baseline represents no disturbance to habitat. The 75H and 50H represent a 25% and 50% loss of high density habitat, 50H and 50M represent a 25 and 50% loss of medium density habitat. Stochastic K represents a scenario where the carrying capacity fluctuates annually. High juvenile mortality is simulated in the model with the highest mortality recorded. Low mortality is simulated as both a juvenile and adult mortality rate 5% lower than the average.
Figure 6. A hypothetical sensitivity analysis where the juvenile survival rate was perturbed plus or minus 10% to evaluate the effect on model output
Figure 7. Multiple trajectories produced by a stochastic population model
Figure 8. Trajectory summary showing the average abundance at each time step and 1 standard deviation
Figure 9. Parameter Input 19
Figure 10. Risk Curves. The dotted lines show the population threshold for each management scenario for a probability of 0.5
Figure 11. Metapopulation Map
Figure 12. Habitat suitability models are used to link dynamic landscape models to demographic models so that predictions of risk include habitat as well as demographic dynamics
Figure 13. Trade-offs in habitat management between the California Gnatcatcher (CAGN) and the Stephen's kangaroo rat (SKR). In some areas of coastal sage scrub habitat short fire return intervals make the habitat suitable for the SKR while longer fire return intervals exclude the SKR and allow development of habitat suitable for the CAGN. 24

Figure 14. Habitat suitability model for *C. verrucosus* under present conditions and future conditions predicted using the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration's model GFDL CM2.1. Relative habitat suitability is indicated by a color ramp from red (highly suitable) to dark blue (unsuitable)...... 27

Figure 15. Risk of extinction (y-axis) vs. costs of conservation alternative (x-axis) (from Akçakaya 2000)
Figure 16. Pareto optimal solutions for alternatives with multiple objectives. Yellow highlights indicate the best performing alternative for a given criteria. Blue highlighting indicates the set of pareto optimal solutions. Rank order should be used when a reliable estimate of accuracy cannot be made (Fieberg and Ellner 2001).
Figure 17. Decision tree for comparison of the value of a single large against two small populations 35
Figure 18. Model parameters for whooping crane population with and without storms
Figure 19. General Conservation Management from DoD Instruction 4715.3
Figure A1. Generic woody plant model structure. Ovals signify significant life stages and S are survival within and between stages and F represents fecundities
Figure A2. Vital rate matrix. S represents survival parameters and F represents fecundities. The subscripts refer to the stages. Thus, STT is the survival rate for tiny individuals that remain in the tiny size class
Figure A3. Complex model linking demographic models to dynamic landscape models using a habitat suitability model
Figure A4. Sensitivity analysis
Figure A5. Trade-offs in habitat management between the California Gnatcatcher and the Stephens' kangaroo rat (SKR). Wildland fire can convert California Gnatcatcher habitat to SKR habitat
Figure A6. A hypothetical impact analysis where new vital rates are estimated for habitat fragmented by a road

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank natural resources management professionals from the Navy Region Southwest, Marine Corps Base Camp Pendleton and Naval Weapons Station Seal Beach detachment Fallbrook and Naval Facilities Engineering Command Southwest for their feedback on the concepts and ideas presented in this report. These included: Jim Asmus, Deborah Beiber, Bill Berry, Tammy Conkle, Sharon Jones, Dr. Eric Kershner, Rob Lovich, Stan Norquist, Kim O'Connor, Vanessa Sippel, and Christy Wolf. In addition we thank Liz Kellogg from Tierra Data Incorporated for review of the draft report and Chelsea Snover of her staff for production assistance.

This project was funded by the Department of Defense's Legacy Resource Management Program.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Advances in computing power and software development have made it feasible to incorporate complicated modeling endeavors in routine natural resources management planning. In this report we review the theory and application of models and decision theory and make recommendations for their use in the context of the Department of Defense (DoD). Modelbased risk assessments are powerful decision tools. This is not to say that models will make hard decisions easy or replace management. They require ecological expertise to develop and interpret, and should be applied within a formal decision framework. What models can do is to clarify risks and trade-offs among choices and inform data collection. A formal approach allows for the explicit statement of assumptions, assures logical consistencies, and allows for the incorporation of methods to deal with uncertainties or knowledge gaps in calculations. Models have been used to assess impacts of known stressors, evaluate management options, and focus future data collection on the most important data gaps (Akçakaya 2000). To be most effective models must be updated as part of an adaptive management program. As information is obtained it can be fed back into the model(s) and used to evaluate existing management strategies or develop new ones. Lastly, modeling as a decision making tool has multiple potential applications to natural resources management and planning within the DoD including impact analyses required by the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA); establishing management goals and objectives within the installation's Integrated Natural Resources Management Plan; generation of an ecosystem health metric for evaluating the efficacy of management programs; and helping to convey DoD's natural resources management accomplishments to the public.

Modeling is particularly useful in complex ecosystems where descriptive analyses of observational data alone are not powerful enough to examine the interactions and trade-offs among organisms. The use of metapopulation models can help define which subpopulations on installations are most important for species persistence, facilitating analysis of trade-offs between military training and conservation. In species with metapopulation structures, trade-offs could be made where military training is allowed in some subpopulations and restricted in others depending on the value of the different areas to training and species persistence.

The loggerhead sea turtle offers a powerful early example of the success of a formal model-based approach. Until the 1980s sea turtle management focused on protecting nesting sites and hatchlings as they dispersed to the sea after emerging from their eggs. However, this didn't result in increases in nesting turtles. A model-based approach revealed that population growth rates were particularly sensitive to sub-adult mortality and much less sensitive to hatchling mortality (Crouse et al. 1987). This eventually led to widespread use of turtle exclusion devices by the fishing Modeling is particularly useful in complex ecosystems where descriptive analyses of observational data alone are not powerful enough to examine the interactions and trade-offs among organisms. Within the DoD are numerous potential applications of model based decision making that would support natural resources managers and the military mission. The key is to use models as decision support tools within a formal decision framework rather than basing decisions solely on model output (Burgman 2005). industry and subsequent increases in the turtle population (Crowder et al. 1994).

Within the DoD are numerous potential applications of model based decision making that would support natural resources managers and the military mission. The key is to use models as decision support tools within a formal decision framework rather than basing decisions solely on model output (Burgman 2005). Figure 1 shows how models can be incorporated in a decision theoretic framework.

Figure 1. Decision Theoretic Framework. Red boxes represent the planning and analysis phase. Blue boxes represent plan implementation and initiation of adaptive management. Steps six and seven generate management tasks (modified from Akçakaya et al. 1999).



The framework (Figure 1) can be separated into two components. The boxes outlined in red (steps one through seven) encompass the analysis and planning phase. The second phase, outlined in blue (steps eight through ten), involves implementation of the plan and initiation of adaptive management; the results of this second phase feed back into analysis and plan revision on a specified schedule. Steps 6 and 7 represent points where tasks can be generated for Integrated Natural Resources Management Plans (INRMPs). Impacts can be assessed at step 8. Once the known information has been assembled the models can be run using

various impact scenarios to evaluate relative impacts of the proposed activities and alternatives. Cumulative impacts can be assessed in a similar manner by incorporating effects from projects in a specified region and time frame into analyses run at step eight.

While in an ideal world the above schematic would be followed and decisions would be made after the appropriate information was collected and analyzed, many decisions are made with existing information or information that can be generated within a relatively short time frame such as a year. Fortunately, this framework can be used even if the only information available initially is expert opinion. In that case a model could be developed with expert opinion and steps six and seven generate the tasks to be specified in the plan including management actions, and data collection for model parameter refinement. Data to evaluate the chosen management strategy is generated in step nine. Step 10, evaluation of the monitoring data, provides feedback both on the accuracy model and the success of the chosen management action. Adaptive management is implemented by subsequent model revision and re-evaluation of selected management options.

The use of transparent formal decision-making methods allows stakeholders and the public to see the relative importance of different assumptions used in the decision making process and can assist in evaluating alternate scenarios. This flexibility and transparency can be used to increase public confidence in DoD natural resource decision making. Because the analysis is transparent and repeatable, conclusions can more easily be communicated and defended to regulators and the public.

While a formal approach clarifies choices, when the uncertainty is fully accounted it may still not be unambiguous which choice is the best. In those cases, other considerations may have to be taken into account such as availability of resources to implement management, and opportunity costs to other programs. Also, at times decisions have to be made relatively quickly and managers may not have the time to develop and implement a formal model, at least not initially. Emergencies are obvious examples of decisions that cannot be deferred. In other cases, the political will may not exist to defer a decision because of insufficient data. For example, while society may draw the line at taking an action that knowingly jeopardizes the survival of an endangered species, society may be unwilling to defer a decision until sufficient data exist to have confidence that the chosen course will ensure survival. The Federal Endangered Species Act (ESA) requires the use of the best available data with limited flexibility to postpone decisions without mutual agreement from all parties (USFWS and NMFS 1998). In the case of insufficient data, the "benefit of the doubt" is to be given to the species. Specific guidance on how to do this, however, is not given and when the

The use of transparent formal decision-making methods allows stakeholders and the public to see the relative importance of different assumptions used in the decision making process and can assist in evaluating alternate scenarios. This flexibility and transparency can be used to increase public confidence in Department of Defense (DoD) natural resource decision making. uncertainty is high it may be difficult to make meaningful decisions. One obvious solution is to proceed using an adaptive management approach that implements management strategies using an experimental framework to develop improved methods.

Not using models doesn't make the uncertainty less or the resultant decisions more robust but it can obscure the fact that the uncertainty exists, giving false confidence in decisions made concerning those species. The use of models for decision making is not without its detractors; criticisms of model-based decision-making are predominantly based on lack of model accuracy. Critics point out that when so much uncertainty surrounds parameters used in the models the resulting error renders predictions unreliable or fails to produce clear choices between alternatives. While this certainly presents problems, not using models in those cases doesn't make the uncertainty less or the resultant decisions more robust but it can obscure the fact that the uncertainty exists, giving false confidence in decisions made concerning those species.

2.0 BACKGROUND

DoD natural resource managers regularly face compelling, competing demands for conservation funds, and military mission land use needs can mean tough choices about where and how natural resources are managed. Natural resources are managed on DoD's installations through INRMPs. The Sikes Act Improvement Act (16 USC 670 et. seq.) requires the preparation of INRMPs and specifies that the military mission be integrated and balanced with natural resources management resulting in no net loss of military training as a result of plan implementation. DoD instruction 4715.3 requires an ecosystem approach to natural resources management. In addition to the Sikes Act, the DoD must comply with the ESA which requires that agency actions not jeopardize the continued existence of species listed under the Act and directs agencies to use their authority to conserve those species. The management of rare and endangered species involves more than just compliance with statutory legal requirements; it also calls for managing and planning for species that are likely to be added to the lists to either forestall their listings or to avoid surprises when they are listed. Individual species have traditionally been the focus of conservation management because of the difficulty of considering multiple species simultaneously and the imperative of intensively managing at-risk species to avoid extinction. This approach however has problems.

Single species management operates under the typically unsubstantiated assumption that other species sharing the same habitat benefit from management of the target species. This assumption has been questioned for lack of evidence and the approach criticized for directing the bulk of conservation funding to a few species while under funding other species and fundamental ecosystem management work such as soil erosion and invasive species control (Franklin 1993; Lambeck 1997). Until recently the complexities of managing multiple species simultaneously with differing population dynamics and habitat requirements in the face of

uncertain ecosystem drivers (rainfall, wildfires, etc.) depended on the skills and expertise of individual managers. Systematic multi-species management has been beyond the scope of the tools routinely implemented by conservation managers. However, recent shifts in conservation planning methodology for multiple species have resulted in the adoption and development of interdisciplinary tools to answer questions at the science-policy interface (Nicholson and Possingham 2007). In addition, as species have been added to the threatened and endangered species list, DoD installations have found themselves with the highest density of listed species of any federal landowner (Stein et al. 2008). With small and overlapping populations of multiple listed species DoD cannot effectively optimize both its mission and endangered species conservation using conventional single species approaches.

Recent ESA exemptions from designation of critical habitat granted to the DoD rely on management provided through the INRMP process to ensure conservation of listed species. The Government Accounting Office (GAO 2003) concluded that some of the measures necessary to conserve listed species restrict military land uses and potentially compromise DoD's mission. In order to provide for conservation but reduce opportunity costs to military training of endangered species conservation, the 2004 National Defense Authorization Act qualifies INRMPs as "special management plans". This designation means that if the plans provide effective conservation benefits to the specific species and ensure that the conservation actions will be implemented, critical habitat for the covered species will not be designated under the ESA on that installation. Environmental groups are concerned that without critical habitat restrictions, DoD's conservation efforts will be inadequate. To complicate this, significant benefits from critical habitat designation have not been documented (Hoekstra et al. 2002) nor have there been definitive studies performed to demonstrate the effectiveness of INRMPs in conserving endangered species. DoD has an interest in demonstrating more clearly that additional regulation is unnecessary and that implementation of INRMPs is more cost-effective, feasible and biologically relevant than managing species through critical habitat designation.

In addition to requirements to manage natural resources, both the ESA and NEPA require assessment and compensation for direct, indirect and cumulative effects to threatened and endangered species and other natural resources. Assessment of cumulative impacts is complex and NEPA documents typically focus on short-term impacts. Long-term, indirect and cumulative impacts, however, often pose the most significant threats (Wheeler et al. 2005) and are those most difficult to accurately predict. Methods to assess and aggregate impacts from multiple projects or sources within a few projects are needed. Natural resources management as well as impact assessment and the associated identification of avoidance, minimization and compensation measures would benefit from an As species have been added to the threatened and endangered species list, DoD installations have found themselves with the highest density of listed species of any federal landowner (Stein et al. 2008). improved ability to project a population's long-term response to impacts and management actions. In addition, formal treatment of the interactions or trade-offs among organisms and between organisms and environmental factors should lead to an increased ability to predict impacts and the outcomes of management actions.

 With diminishing funding for natural resource programs it is critical to obtain maximum benefit from available conservation management budgets.

The military mission is incorporated in two ways. The first is in crafting management alternatives for analysis that are compatible with the mission and the second is in the decision framework that explicitly lays out the trade-offs between mission opportunities, species persistence and cost. With diminishing funding for natural resource programs it is critical to obtain maximum benefit from available conservation management budgets. The best outcome for a natural resource management plan is to meet multiple management goals with each strategy, rather than piecing together a range of, sometimes conflicting, focused management strategies for single species. One way to improve the outcome of management choices is to consider multiple species simultaneously. We propose methods to use population models and formal decision making methods to do so.

The first component of the approach proposed here is to construct population models, based on current knowledge, to quantitatively evaluate the effects of alternative management strategies on a range of locally atrisk species. The results of the modeling component feed into a decisiontheoretic framework to optimize decisions under multiple objectives and competing goals. This framework will be based on assessing goals, objectives and values of individual stakeholders and the decision maker and then selecting the optimal management strategy. The ultimate decision framework will assist in developing cost-effective management strategies that optimize the persistence of the targeted species while maintaining the military mission. The military mission is incorporated in two ways. The first is in crafting management alternatives for analysis that are compatible with the mission, and the second is in the decision framework that explicitly lays out the trade-offs between mission opportunities, species persistence and cost.

This proposed framework can assist the military in shifting from singlespecies to multiple species management by setting up formal, transparent and repeatable methods to do so. It can be used to highlight the trade-offs between conservation targets and between conservation targets and military land uses. This approach can incorporate and augment established spatial decision support tools such as NatureServe (NatureServe 2005). NatureServe consists of network of independent natural heritage programs for much of the Western Hemisphere. These programs maintain extensive databases of rare and endangered species and ecological communities including spatial locations and data on status and threats. The DoD works with NatureServe to develop and analyze information. Spatial systems such as NatureServe look at the extent of species habitats across the landscape and can address issues relating to habitat size and configuration. For example one current NatureServe project for DoD is an analysis of locations of rare species, not yet listed under the ESA, with respect to DoD lands (NatureServe 2005). Use of this geographic analysis to prioritize species for conservation actions is intended to help stabilize populations and reduce the need for future ESA listings. Our approach takes spatial decision support systems one step further by integrating population dynamics into the decision process. The integration of population dynamics into an established spatial approach to conservation management will enable decision making that takes species life history attributes into account and can detect more subtle effects than a spatial system alone. In the example above, population dynamical information could help refine the selection to species or populations that are more at risk or more likely to benefit from a given conservation action. The methods proposed here complements spatial approaches by adding an extra dimension to the analysis.

3.0 POPULATION VIABILITY ANALYSIS (PVA)

Most population dynamical models (Figure 2) in use in conservation can be included under the broad heading of PVA. Such models have been in use since the 1980's (Shaffer 1990), and includes methods that combine expert opinion, species specific data, formal models and risk analysis to project future population trajectories and predict probabilities of decline or extinction (Akçakaya 2004; Akçakaya 2000; Beissinger 2002; Boyce 1992; Shaffer 1990). PVA can incorporate a wide variety of information including genetic, demographic and ecological data as well as expert opinion (Akçakaya 2004; Boyce 1992).

Figure 3 is a schematic of a vital rate matrix used in a stage based model. Stages rather than ages are used for species where vital rates are dependent on size or physiological stage rather than age. For example in many woody plant species seed production and survival are functions of size rather than age. In a stochastic stage based model two matrices are included for each set of vital rates; one includes the means and the other includes the standard deviations of those means. Other types of population dynamical models are discussed under the section **Single Species Models** below.

Figure 2. Schematic representation of a stage based population dynamical model. Ovals signify significant life stages and parameters denoted by S represent survival within and between stages and by F represent fecundities.



 Our approach takes spatial decision support systems one step further by integrating population dynamics into the decision process. Figure 3. Vital rate matrix. The lower 3 rows include survival parameters and the top row consists of fecundities. The subscripts refer to the stages. Thus, aw21 is the survival rate for stage 1 individuals that survive and transition into stage 2.



4.0 VALIDITY OF PVAS FOR CONSERVATION:

Early in the development of PVAs it was hoped that even though data were sparse and resultant PVAs were lacking in predictive power, generalities would emerge that were useful for conservation planning (Boyce 1992; Shaffer 1990). It was believed that the Minimum Viable Population (MVP), or the population size required to ensure persistence, could be used as a general measure in conservation biology to assess populations and management options. Reed et al. (2003) concluded that this generalization may not be appropriate because of uncertainty in the estimates, and large among species variation in the estimates.

Rather than generalizations, most PVA work has remained focused on analyzing individual species. There is an ongoing debate in the scientific literature on the appropriate use of PVAs focusing on the absolute versus relative accuracy of model results and the implications thereof for specific species (McCarthy et al. 2003). A number of articles have been published since the mid-1990's evaluating the validity of PVAs. Detractors generally cite the lack of accuracy in PVA models (Coulson et al. 2001; Ellner et al. 2002; Fieberg and Ellner 2000; Ludwig 1999). Proponents, on the other hand, while generally acknowledging poor absolute accuracy, consider relative predictions sufficiently reliable to support exploratory, heuristic uses and conservation decisions (Brook et al. 2002; Lindenmayer et al. 2003; McCarthy et al. 2003; McCarthy et al. 2001). Unfortunately the lack of absolute accuracy in model estimates means that the results of evaluations of alternative management or impact scenarios are not valid for comparisons between species unless meaningful confidence intervals can be calculated. This is to say that models can only be useful in multispecies planning or impact analysis when applications will be limited to the relative rankings.

Fieberg and Ellner (2000) looked at the utility of PVAs by evaluating predictions as a function of the length of the time series length used to parameterize a PVA. They found that reliable predictions of extinction probabilities could only be made for time horizons less than 20% of the length of the data set. These time frames would have little utility in conservation planning considering that a 10 year data set could only be used to make predictions up to two years in the future. In contrast, for ranking management options, McCarthy et al. (2003) evaluated relative accuracy of PVA output using 10 years of data and found that when extinction predictions were used to select the best management option they were reliable for periods up to 100 years.

The flexibility in what constitutes a PVA is the source of some problems as it gives no assurance that all relevant data will be used. Asquith (2001) reported on the Javan gibbon and maintained that the most important factor, decline through habitat loss, was omitted from the PVA which primarily considered genetic factors.

While there may be problems with PVA forecasting, many conclude that, with cautious interpretation of results, it is the best way to proceed (Reed et al. 2003). It can conceptually integrate all information available whether it is based on long-term monitoring studies or expert opinion; models can vary in their complexity as appropriate; and it is explicit about assumptions (Akçakaya 2004; McCarthy et al. 2003). Proponents of PVA argue that alternatives often involve considerable uncertainty that is obscured and that even when data are sparse and predictions less reliable, that the value PVA is in clarifying the problem (Brook et al. 2002). They maintain that alternatives should be evaluated rigorously before acceptance to ensure that their predictions are at least as good as PVA (Lindenmayer et al. 2003). So, while recognizing its limitations use of PVA to integrate what is known about a species to identify critical gaps in knowledge and make testable predictions about which conservation actions have the best chance of reducing a species' predicted risk of extinction is valid even when model predictions are inaccurate (Boyce 1992).

PVA can be used for impact analysis by estimating vital rates for the different scenarios (Figure 4). In this example a proposal is made to build a road through occupied habitat. Assuming that the population parameters are known or can be estimated the text box on the left represents the population before the proposed impact. Then based on available data or expert opinion population sizes, carrying capacity, and vital rates are estimated for the two resulting fragments. If other road alignments are feasible they can be parameterized as well. The model can then be run for the baseline and alternative actions. When habitat loss occurs it can be reflected directly in the carrying capacity and indirectly in the vital rates if the population or habitat patch becomes small enough that survival or

While there may be problems with PVA forecasting, many conclude that, with cautious interpretation of results, it is the best way to proceed (Reed et al. 2003). reproduction is impacted. Similarly alternative vital rates are estimated to evaluate alternative management scenarios.



Figure 4. A hypothetical impact analysis where new vital rates are estimated for habitat fragmented by a road.

An example of the application of PVA in DoD land management is the Navy's development and use of a San Clemente Island Sage Sparrow model.

An example of the application of PVA in DoD land management is the Navy's development and use of a San Clemente Island Sage Sparrow model. The San Clemente Sage Sparrow was listed as a federally threatened subspecies endemic to San Clemente Island in 1977. Habitat for this subspecies is restricted due in part to current and predicted military requirements. Population Viability Analysis was used to evaluate various management strategies to protect the Sage Sparrow population while sustaining requirements for completing the military mission. Habitat for Sage Sparrows exists as high, medium, or low in quality depending on the vegetation (height and cover of boxthorn), elevation and sage sparrow density. The destruction of habitat to ensure the execution of the military mission may be required; therefore a trade-off exists between protecting the threatened species and allowing use of the land. In order to evaluate various management options, models simulating a loss of various amounts of habitat of differing quality and varying juvenile mortality were tested to determine which combination would result in the lowest probability of extinction (Figure 5) of the sparrow. The lowest probability of extinction resulted from a decreased juvenile mortality rate while an increase in the juvenile mortality rate drastically increased the probability of extinction. As long as there was less than a 50% loss of habitat, no matter the quality, the probability of extinction was not severely increased. By clearly defining management options, trade-offs can be highlighted, quantified (in this case by ranking the probability of extinction), and evaluated under a variety of plausible scenarios.

Figure 5. Model simulation results comparing the probability of extinction for San Clemente Sage Sparrows based on various management strategies tested. Baseline represents no disturbance to habitat. The 75H and 50H represent a 25% and 50% loss of high density habitat, 50H and 50M represent a 25 and 50% loss of medium density habitat. Stochastic K represents a scenario where the carrying capacity fluctuates annually. High juvenile mortality is simulated in the model with the highest mortality recorded. Low mortality is simulated as both a juvenile and adult mortality rate 5% lower than the average.



5.0 THE USE OF PVA PREDICTIONS IN CONSERVATION PLANNING:

There are a number of recent examples in the literature where PVA was applied to a conservation planning problem. The most common was the use of PVA to evaluate different management strategies. Akçakaya et al. (2003) used a metapopulation model to evaluate predator control strategies for the California Least Tern. In that case sufficient data had been collected since the development of the California Least Tern model to test its accuracy (Dr. C.T. Collins, pers. comm. January 2006). Evaluation of model accuracy, followed by improvements are needed as part of the adaptive management process and to help maintain stakeholder confidence in the use of models. Other recent examples include the use of PVAs to evaluate alternative management strategies for metapopulations of a snail and a plant. Various harvesting strategies and plantation options were tested to determine the effects on a snail whose habitat is frequently harvested for timber (Regan et al. 2001). Finally, Regan et al. (2003) tested the effects of decreased seed predation and fire management strategies (deterministic and random fire events, mosaic fire management) to a plant.

PVA has also supported the development of criteria for removing an endangered butterfly from the endangered species list (Schultz and Hammond 2003). In this case the authors modeled a metapopulation using linear regression and calculated the growth rate necessary to have a 95% probability of persistence for 100 years. Their criteria included minimum number of subpopulations, and population growth rate over 10 years with a specified variance.

Problems with PVA that significantly compromise the accuracy of model projections remain. However, there is broad agreement that it is the best process available to make timely decisions with limited data. Sensitivity analyses combined with using a range of parameter values and their variances in modeling exercises can be used to incorporate uncertainty in PVA when accurate estimates are not available. This is probably conceptually close to what experts and managers do when they know their data are uncertain; the advantage is that it is more thorough, transparent and repeatable. The value of spatially explicit metapopulation viability models in conservation planning is demonstrated by its routine use in evaluating conservation management actions and developing recovery criteria for at-risk species.

6.0 MODEL TESTING AND VALIDATION:

Both supporters and critics alike agree that tests of absolute predictions are important in PVA, as a means of directing model improvement and informing adaptive management (Coulson et al. 2001; Lindenmayer et al. 2003; McCarthy et al. 2003). Tests however, must not use the same data that was used to parameterize the models (McCarthy and Broome 2000). Model testing results to date demonstrate that while some models can accurately predict population dynamics, accuracy is variable and which models will be more accurate can elude prediction.

Lindenmayer (2003), in an evaluation of spatially explicit metapopulation models found significant variation in accuracy for models of closely related species in the same system. Some models had poor predictive ability even though they dealt with well-studied species. They concluded that model accuracy was limited by complex processes that were poorly understood or unquantified. In contrast Stephens et al. (2002) was able to develop an accurate spatially explicit behavior-based model for the alpine marmot, a species with a complex life-history. This type of model incorporates an optimization criterion to model parameters rather than specified probabilities, such that the way an animal behaves determines the value of the parameter.

7.0 UNCERTAINTY IN PVA

Uncertainty is a major issue in decision making for natural resource management. Methods for robust decision-making under uncertainty should be employed so the manager can gauge the impact of uncertainty on decisions and to highlight where further data collection would have the

Both supporters and critics alike agree that tests of absolute predictions are important in PVA, as a means of directing model improvement and informing adaptive management (Coulson et al., 2001; Lindenmayer et al., 2003; McCarthy et al., 2003).

most benefit. The data thus targeted for collection can then be used reduce uncertainty in model outputs.

Uncertainty is what causes risk in planning and decision making. In other words, if outcomes were known with certainty there would be no risk that a course of action would produce unanticipated results. Further, understanding the sources of uncertainty and their implications in PVA helps insure the decision process can proceed adaptively.

Recent reviews of PVA have demonstrated that they are fraught with uncertainty. This stems from several sources, including: 1) measurement error and resultant inaccurate estimation of vital rates, 2) insufficient sample size and 3) assumptions that certain environment drivers (i.e. precipitation, temperature, exotic species introductions, etc.) and its effects on vital rates will remain constant (Coulson et al. 2001; Lindenmayer 2003; Reed et al. 2003).

Measurement error has been identified as a significant risk although Reed et al. (2003) concluded in their analysis of PVAs for 102 vertebrate taxa that variation in vital rates (demographic parameters such as birth and death rates) has a stronger effect than measurement error on extinction predictions (probability of extinction within a specified time frame). Furthermore, estimates of vital rates can be in error if they are calculated from dissimilar populations of the same species. For example, Lindenmayer (2003) found vital rates measured in larger, less fragmented populations to be different than those in smaller more fragmented populations. In general, insufficient sample size and short time series are one of the biggest problems in model parameterization; however, Reed et al. (2003) concluded that insufficient study length causes underestimations of extinction risk rather than simply imprecise estimations, meaning that the results can still be useful in ranking management options.

In addition to measurement error, natural sources of variation introduce uncertainty. Temporal variation in vital rates is not unlikely in natural populations. In order to accept the outcomes of models one must assume that the mean vital rates and their variances are the same for the period from which the model was parameterized and the period for which projections are made. Factors that regulate the population such as predators or prey could change over time as the population increases or decreases, not only influencing the vital rates themselves but which vital rates are most important in regulating the populations (Coulson et al. 2001). The incorporation of climate models and models of exotic species spread to develop better predictions of future environment can help mitigate, but not eliminate this uncertainty.

Typically uncertainty is incorporated in models by using means and variances of vital rates. However, when specific parameter variances are

 Uncertainty is what causes risk in planning and decision making. Sensitivity analysis, also known as perturbation analysis (Caswell 2001), is used to evaluate models to identify variables with the strongest effect on output. It is a tremendously important part of modeling. not available it can be incorporated using likely ranges of parameters (Figure 6) and alternative model structures, followed by comparisons of model results to get a range of predictions (Akçakaya 2004; Regan et al. 2003). In addition to incorporating uncertainty into models this is one of a number of techniques that can be used to perform sensitivity analysis. Sensitivity analysis, also known as perturbation analysis (Caswell 2001), is used to evaluate models to identify variables with the strongest effect on output. It is a tremendously important part of modeling. In fact where models are poor because of uncertainty, sensitivity analysis may be the most informative part of modeling in that one can investigate what parameters contribute most to population growth rate. Additionally, sensitivity analysis can reveal parameter thresholds where predictions such as risk of extinction change significantly and thus highlight where it is most important to control uncertainty. This information is useful for prioritizing conservation actions as well as for allocating effort to improve estimates of these values. The variables addressed can be for example vital rates, age or stage structure, density dependence or dispersal (Mills and Lindberg 2002).

Figure 6. A hypothetical sensitivity analysis where the juvenile survival rate was perturbed plus or minus 10% to evaluate the effect on model output.

Parameter	Extinction Risk	
Juvenile survival (SJ)	45%	
(SJ) + 10%	24%	
(SJ) – 10%	55%	

Calculation of confidence intervals (Ludwig 1999) is an explicit way to express the uncertainty of model results. When the uncertainty is high it may not be possible to differentiate between estimates of population viability and it follows that without such estimates of precision, specific estimates of viability should not be used (Fieberg and Ellner 2001). In those cases, model output should be expressed as relative measures of viability for alternative impact or management scenarios and these relative measures used to inform decisions.

8.0 SINGLE SPECIES MODELS

Even though our purpose here is to address multi-species modeling techniques for DoD INRMP applications, a review of single species models is important to lay the methodological foundation for discussing of multi-species modeling. PVAs have progressed from deterministic evaluations of single populations (single species models) to stochastic models and, more recently, spatially explicit metapopulation models and individual-based models (Beissinger 2002). In deterministic models, a

PVAs have progressed from deterministic evaluations of single populations (single species models) to stochastic models and, more recently, spatially explicit metapopulation models and individual-based models (Beissinger 2002).

single population trajectory is calculated from mean vital rates, such as birth rate and death rate.

However, using averages and a single trajectory does not usually represent the behavior of natural populations very well. Stochastic models incorporating variance are necessary to describe population dynamics because of high variances in vital rates (i.e. population growth, birth, death and survival) of wild populations and their interaction with non-linear population dynamical functions (Boyce 1992; Chesson 2000). Nonlinearities are common in natural systems, for example in perennial plants, year to year survival buffers population growth rate from the recruitment rate so when there is no recruitment the population doesn't necessarily go extinct. On a simplistic level non-linearities can mean that the good years outweigh the bad because the population gains much more in the good years than it loses in bad years. With stochastic models, multiple trajectories are produced (Figure 7) each one based on calculations using birth and death rates drawn from a probability distribution defined by the mean and standard deviation of the given vital rate. It is typical for a trajectory summary to be based on 100s to 1000s of trajectories. The results are given as the average expected population size and its standard deviation over time (Figure 8). Spatially explicit metapopulation models calculate a species' population trajectories based on calculations for individual populations which include factors for migration between patches and degree of correlation between patches of environmental factors which influence annual population fluctuations. Individual-based models follow the fate of individuals through time.



Figure 7. Multiple trajectories produced by a stochastic population model.



Figure 8. Trajectory summary showing the average abundance at each time step and 1 standard deviation.

 Different management or impact scenarios are evaluated by altering vital rates in the models and comparing predictions. Different management or impact scenarios are evaluated by altering vital rates in the models and comparing predictions. Estimates are made for how these scenarios will change vital rates or carrying capacity and these new values are entered into the model. For example, Figure 9 shows some of the parameters that are used in the RAMAS metapopulation model (Akçakaya et al. 1999). Figure 9 represents a hypothetical impact which fragmented a single population into two. The parameters that were changed to represent the impacts included initial abundance, population growth rate, survival rate and carrying capacity. In this case the impact was anticipated to result in: the loss of individuals (initial abundance), the loss of habitat (carrying capacity), an increase in mortality (decrease in survival rate) leading to a reduction in the population growth rate. These predicted estimates, as with the original model parameters, can be based on information from a variety of sources from studies to expert opinion. Uncertainties can be incorporated by conducting sensitivity analyses. For example if the available information indicates that the survival rate will decrease between 0.05 and 0.15 the model can be run separately using both figures and the effect on risk of extinction can be quantified. Uncertainty can also be incorporated by adjusting the predicted standard deviation of the population growth rate.

Similar to quantifying an impact analysis, management options proposed to promote population persistence can be evaluated in this manner. The optimal management strategy will be that which results in the population most likely to persist.

Once the parameters have been estimated for the different scenarios, each model is rerun. Average population trajectories are calculated for each of the management options or impact scenarios. From these trajectories for

each alternative, risk curves can be developed by calculating the cumulative probability that the population will fall to or below a certain size based on the individual trajectories (Akçakaya 1999). Alternative management scenarios are compared by considering the probability that a population will fall below a given threshold over the period modeled. Since we are most concerned about the worst case scenario for at-risk species, risk curves are generated to conservatively compare management options. Figure 10 shows hypothetical risk curves for four management scenarios. The curves allow one to evaluate the alternatives with respect to each other. For example, while management scenario A has a 50% chance of falling below 2000 individuals, that threshold is higher for management scenario B (3,800), and C (4,100) and management scenario D achieves the highest population threshold of 4,900 individuals.

Population	Initial Population	Fragment 1	Fragment 2
Initial Abundance	300	150	130
Population Growth rate (R):	1.02	1.01	1.01
Survival rate (s):	0.75	0.7	0.7
Standard deviation of R:	0.5	0.5	0.5
Carrying Capacity (K):	300	150	120

Figure 10. Risk Curves. The dotted lines show the population threshold for each management scenario for a probability of 0.5.



Metapopulation PVAs evolved to address spatially oriented management questions for populations with patch structure and are a key development in conservation biology. Natural populations have always had a certain degree of fragmentation (Schwartz 1999). However, fragmentation caused by human activities has proceeded to the extent that Reed et al. (2003) concluded, based on their MPV estimates for 102 vertebrate taxa, that sufficient contiguous habitat is not available for most species and that

Metapopulation PVAs evolved to address spatially oriented management questions for populations with patch structure and are a key development in conservation biology. management of habitat networks is required. Because they consider the contribution of each patch to the persistence of the species, spatially explicit meta-population models can be used to evaluate management of and impacts to these populations. These models evaluate extinction risks for species dependent on fragmented habitats taking into consideration dispersal, environmental correlation among patches, variations in population growth rates and differences in carrying capacity between patches. Figure 11 shows an example of a metapopulation.

Figure 11. Metapopulation Map



Arrows show dispersal between patches.

Recent efforts link models of spatial and temporal habitat dynamics at the landscape scale and metapopulation models that predict occupancy at the patch level. At a landscape scale, habitat patch dynamics have a strong influence on population persistence and the predicted risk of extinction and therefore, should be included in PVAs as well (Shaffer 1990). Fire, for example, a strong driver of habitat dynamics, is highly variable over time and space. In order to model populations more accurately, changes in habitat suitability must be reflected in changes in carrying capacity for given patches. When a patch becomes unsuitable, the carrying capacity changes to zero. If a patch becomes suitable because of, for example a disturbance, the carrying capacity will increase to a positive number but the population size will remain at zero until successful dispersal occurs. Recent efforts link models of spatial and temporal habitat dynamics at the landscape scale and metapopulation models that predict occupancy at the patch level (Figure 12) (Akçakaya et al. 2004).

Figure 12. Habitat suitability models are used to link dynamic landscape models to demographic models so that predictions of risk include habitat as well as demographic dynamics.



9.0 MULTI-SPECIES MODELING AND MANAGEMENT

9.1 Multi-species Management

The conservation of biological diversity is one of the primary conservation goals not only for government and non-government organizations devoted to conservation but also the U.S. Military (Williams 2000; Leslie et al. 1996). Definitions of biodiversity encompass biotic variation from genes to landscapes and ecological and evolutionary processes (Noss and Cooperrider 1994). Conserving biodiversity has shifted away from a paradigm which focuses on counting species and the perception of ecosystems as static and predictable. The current view is of a dynamic, complex system with multiple levels of organization (Poiani 2000). Realization of the complexity and dynamic nature of ecological systems led to the concept of ecosystem management, wherein success is assured by conserving and managing the ecosystem as a whole (Christensen and Franklin 1996). This is problematic however, because as a goal, ecosystem management is too vague to set meaningful objectives by which progress can be measured.

Conventionally, natural resources management has focused on individual species for two reasons: 1) the complexity of considering multiple species simultaneously until recently outstripped theory and available tools and 2) the imperative of intensively managing at-risk species to avoid extinction focused resources on individual species. We will focus on the first here. Unfortunately so many species have become endangered that the density of federally listed species on military lands has put the military in the position of managing multiple listed species, in some cases with

Conserving biodiversity has shifted away from a paradigm which focuses on counting species and the perception of ecosystems as static and predictable. The current view is of a dynamic, complex system with multiple levels of organization (Poiani 2000).

Unfortunately so many species have become endangered that the density of federally listed species on military lands has put the military in the position of managing multiple listed species, in some cases with unavoidable trade-offs between them due to conflicting habitat or management requirements (U.S. Navy 2007). unavoidable trade-offs between them due to conflicting habitat or management requirements (U.S. Navy 2007). Furthermore, when one considers the importance of managing rare species to forestall future listings in addition to already listed species, multiple species management has become the imperative for the military. This perspective, focusing on at-risk species, is narrow compared to the business of ecosystem management and developing and implementing INRMPs, but it is where we need to start.

Switching from single to multi-species management magnifies the Switching from single to multispecies management magnifies problems of single-species modeling (Nicholson and Possingham 2007). the problems of single-species Data limitations for example, mean that not all species can be modeled modeling (Nicholson and and included in the development of management plans. Because of this, Possingham 2007). surrogates are necessary but their selection is often biased, if for no other reason than the fact that more data exist for certain types of species such

> The use of species guilds was an early multispecies approach to conservation and management (Poiani 2000). The species guild concept, which focuses on a group of related species and the umbrella species concept (Andelman and Fagan 2000; Simberloff 1998) which focuses species requiring large areas that incorporate the ranges of other species, were a substantial improvement over traditional single species approaches but still had their limitations. Sites conserved and managed for the needs of single or small group of species may fail to conserve critical components (habitat elements, linkages and processes) that other portions of the biotic community are dependent on. In trying to assess whether ecosystems have the ability to maintain species over the long-term, interest has developed in indicator species (Poiani 2000) as a way of meeting the needs of many species without studying them individually (Lambeck 1997). However, because species requirements do not always nest within each other indicator or focal species can be problematic (Lindenmayer 2002).

as those that are charismatic or protected. This can leave plans with incomplete coverage of ecosystem components and processes.

Lambeck (1997) addresses the problem of the unproven assumption that conservation of one species will protect other species in the same habitat by proposing the following selection rules for the "focal" species. Each species included in the set will represent groups of species with similar habitat and process requirements and threatened by similar factors. The entire set of species should represent the different aspects of the landscape. Through this process the species with the most limiting requirements will be selected and appropriate management and/or restoration activities can be implemented. Theoretically, the species chosen through this method will define different attributes of the landscape necessary to meet the needs of its biota. Once a management plan is developed based on the

focal species selected, an adaptive management program must be implemented wherein both focal species and the others should be evaluated to see if the assumption that other species will be protected holds.

Fox et al. (2004) used a similar approach to Lambeck (1997) to select study species. In evaluating the effect of forest management they chose species that were anticipated to be at risk from logging and which had varying life histories and ecological characteristics. They anticipated that this focus on species with a range of habitat requirements would overcome drawbacks of single species approaches. Methods to select the best species not withstanding, a problem noted by many authors is that the species chosen are biased by the available information. While some choices must be made, this issue is less problematic for DoD at this time, where because of the imperative of ESA compliance while simultaneously achieving the sometimes conflicting military mission, the focus has been narrowed to listed or likely to be listed species.

9.2 Trade-offs and Goal Conflicts

Implicit in multi-species management are trade-offs. Whereas trade-offs in single species management occur between conservation of the target species, social values (such as competing land uses) and economics, with multiple species trade-offs also occur among the targets of conservation. Trade-offs can occur between the objects of conservation (Figure 13) such as deciding where limited conservation funds are spent, or between conservation and other objectives such as military training or development. In some contexts, species conservation may be the primary management goal. In other contexts management may also be focused on harvesting natural resources or other land uses such as military training. Regardless of whether the goals are limited to multiple species conservation or multiple species conservation plus other resource use, trade-offs between management objectives must be considered. Tradeoffs emerge when conflicts exist between management objectives. They often happen when there are multiple stakeholders with different interests, but also when a single decision maker has conflicting objectives. For example, military managers would like to train without restrictions but at the same time they want to prevent soil erosion that reduces the utility of training lands either by physically reducing access in the form of gully erosion or by changing plant communities which might be important in training scenarios.

- Implicit in multi-species management are trade-offs.
- Trade-offs can occur between the objects of conservation such as deciding where limited conservation funds are spent, or between conservation and other objectives such as military training or development.

Figure 13. Trade-offs in habitat management between the California Gnatcatcher (CAGN) and the Stephen's kangaroo rat (SKR). In some areas of coastal sage scrub habitat short fire return intervals make the habitat suitable for the SKR while longer fire return intervals exclude the SKR and allow development of habitat suitable for the CAGN.



The Sikes Act in its language governing INRMPs acknowledges trade-offs by saying that implementation of the plans shall result in no net loss of military training opportunities. In that case, the word "net" implies that the decision process can include trade-offs between military training, and other objectives such as conservation and economics. Conflicts between conservation objectives can include both trade-offs among species that utilize the same landscape in different seral stages and trade-offs between species that are inexpensive to conserve and those which are more expensive to conserve. For example, one of the trade-offs often made within DoD is controlling native predators or altering native habitats to support endangered species. The Sikes Act in its language governing INRMPs acknowledges trade-offs by saying that implementation of the plans shall result in no net loss of military training opportunities. In that case, the word "net" implies that the decision process can include trade-offs between military training, and other objectives such as conservation and economics.

9.3 Multi-species Modeling

Once a subset of species has been identified as the focus of management, methods must be employed that allow their simultaneous evaluation so that trade-offs can be analyzed to support decision making. One of the key challenges in developing multi-species models is to define objectives clearly and explicitly. Objectives provide the context that allows tradeoffs to be clarified. Maximizing biodiversity is too vague and needs to be translated into specific objectives. On the other hand, an objective such as a specified risk of extinction allows a clear comparison of alternatives. In addition to the importance of specificity, how objectives are expressed will influence output. Nicholson and Possingham (2007) recommend using the relative risk of extinction to define objectives for multiple species. They use the objective functions to compare the risks within a group of species and management options to accomplish various objectives such as maximizing the number of species expected to persist or minimizing the probability of extinction for any given species. Below we review two theoretic and two applied approaches that utilize relative risk of extinction to direct conservation planning. The applied approaches develop individual PVAs for each species and the relative results of those PVAs are compared (Fox et al. 2004) or combined (Akackaya 2000). Both theoretical examples involve more complex functions.

Fox et al. (2004), in a study on the effects of a conservation plan that increases logging while at the same time provides for conservation, constructed PVAs for 11 rare and endangered species. The premise was that increased impacts caused by increasing timber production in certain areas could be offset by species benefits in others. They evaluated the contribution of spatial configuration versus quantity of habitat to species persistence and hypothesized that they would differ in importance to different species. They used PVAs constructed for each species and based their conclusions on the relative change in risk of extinction for each species predicted from alternative management scenarios.

Using objective functions that directly incorporate the extinction risk of multiple species, Nicholson and Possingham (2007) took the results of PVA and created mathematical formulations of conservation objectives. These included for example, conservation based on umbrella species (Andelman and Fagan 2000; Simberloff 1998), or minimizing the chance of extinctions in a group of species. The function for minimizing the chance of extinctions is set to "minimize the probability of one or more extinctions." The results are used to rank conservation plans and to solve optimization problems. They showed that alternative functions can lead to different results. For example, the choice between the alternative functions 1) minimize the chance of one or more extinction or 2) minimize the chance that all species go extinct resulted in a reversal of the ranking of the best and worst scenarios.

One of the problems Nicholson and Possingham (2007) encountered was that correlations in extinction risk are poorly known and they need to be explicitly treated when joint probabilities (multiplicative) are used. As a result they recommended combining the threshold approach (their umbrella species approach) and the use of an additive function such as minimizing of the expected number of extinctions rather than the joint probability. Finally they cautioned against taking the final scores at face value and emphasized the need to look at the impacts of the various scenarios on individual species in making decisions.

Akçakaya (2000) uses PVA with weighted habitat suitability maps to develop multi-species plans. The value of each habitat patch to the viability of each species is calculated using a model with all patches and a model with all patches except the one under consideration. The values are weighted by the threat status of a species and are combined for each parcel. The resultant values therefore are higher for areas with more species and areas with more threatened species.

Witting (2000) proposed a method to provide optimal protection from extinction within a set of interacting species. They note that optimal protection might require trade-offs such as an increase in the extinction
risks, or even an eradication of species that either compete with or prey on other species. They analyzed the effects that single species extinctions have on the extinction dynamics of the complete ecosystem. In their method, an ecological value is given to a species by the degree to which the extinction of a species causes or prevents the subsequent extinction of other species.

10.0 INCORPORATING CLIMATE CHANGE

The evidence for human caused climate change is extensive and has generated consensus in the scientific community (GAO 2007; Gitay et al. 2002; and Oreskes 2004). Addressing climate change poses a new challenge for natural resources managers who will need, in addition to understanding ecosystems as they function now and in the past, to anticipate changes in ecosystem structure and function (GAO 2007). Models are the only way to project these future changes, however the use of models to explore the potential implications of climate change is rife with uncertainty. To begin with the climate models themselves are uncertain and vary in their predictions (Cayan et al. 2008). In addition the use of current data to model future changes relies on questionable assumptions including constancy of limiting factors and interspecific competition, and that the species will not evolve in response to climate change. Because of the uncertainty it is very important to remember that these models should be used to support rather than guide decisions (Dormann 2007, and Guisan and Thuiller 2005). The problems and limitations not withstanding, it is important to move forward, improving the ability to project future changes; without this managers will be limited to reacting to changes as they occur and constrained in their ability to plan around future changes. The adaptive process of developing, validating and improving models is the best way forward to improve forecasts needed for management.

One of the main methods used to date to assess the impact of climate change on biodiversity are projections of species distributions or habitat suitability models (HSM's) where current distributions of species are correlated with climate and sometimes other habitat predictor variables such as soils (Dormann 2007; Keith et al. in press; and Thomas et al. 2004). The statistical models developed are then used with future climate scenarios to project range shifts (Figure 14). One of the problems with these projections is for example, that for a long lived woody species like *Ceanothus verrucosus* the decline in suitability may only affect certain life stages such as seedlings so the adults might be expected to persist in their former range even if the habitat becomes unsuitable for seedling establishment. Dormann (2007) and Guisan and Thuiller (2005) provide a good discussion of the limitations of these models.

- Addressing climate change poses a new challenge for natural resources managers who will need, in addition to understanding ecosystems as they function now and in the past, to anticipate changes in ecosystem structure and function (GAO 2007).
- Because of the uncertainty it is very important to remember that these models should be used to support rather than guide decisions (Dormann 2007, and Guisan and Thuiller 2005).

Figure 14. Habitat suitability model for *C. verrucosus* under present conditions and future conditions predicted using the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration's model GFDL CM2.1. Relative habitat suitability is indicated by a color ramp from red (highly suitable) to dark blue (unsuitable).



Recently, HSMs have been combined with population models to improve predictions of extinction risk under climate change (Keith et al. in press). For each species they developed an HSM and stochastic population model. Habitat suitability maps for specific climate change scenarios were then derived using the HSMs. The carrying capacity of the projected suitable habitat was determined two ways, either with a combination of habitat area and relative habitat suitability or just habitat area. They used linear interpolation to derive maps for each time step in the population model and population dynamics were simulated using the combination of the population model and projected habitat. These methods require a good understanding of both the habitat requirements and life-history of the species' modeled, but for species with sufficient information they offer a promising way to improve projections under climate change by integrating projected habitat changes with population dynamics.

11.0 DECISION THEORY

Integrated natural resources management planning is a classic application of decision theory, though most people involved with these plans do not explicitly think about it as such. Decision theory includes principles and analytical techniques that facilitate selection among alternatives based on their consequences. Key aspects include values of the decision maker, risk and uncertainty. Application of decision tools clarifies the logic and facts that support decisions. Resnik (1987) describes it as an integration of utility theory (how we value things), game theory (strategic decisions) and social choice theory (voting systems). Not all decisions call for a methodical application of decision theory. In some cases the choices and outcomes are so limited or clear cut that it is rational to make a direct decision, or immediate need or danger might not allow time to run through a decision analysis such as the case with a natural disaster like fire or

- Decision theory includes principles and analytical techniques that facilitate selection among alternatives based on their consequences.
- Application of decision tools clarifies the logic and facts that support decisions.

 Decision makers do not influence the objective truth of a situation or the probability of an outcome. Their challenge is to maximize the benefits received from positive outcomes, minimize the adverse effects of negative outcomes and avoid unacceptable outcomes.

Realistic problems that require decisions typically include some level of subjectivity (Drechsler and Burgman 2004). While subjectivity is often viewed negatively, all values are inherently subjective. flood. We will address the cases where sufficient time is available to complete a decision analysis and the complexity and the risks associated with the choices warrant it.

To start with it is important to acknowledge that decision makers do not influence the objective truth of a situation or the probability of an outcome. Their challenge is to maximize the benefits received from positive outcomes, minimize the adverse effects of negative outcomes and avoid unacceptable outcomes. They can do this best by having all of the available facts arrayed as clearly as possible in a conceptual framework or model with logical connections explicitly specified. Decision theory itself is conceptually simple; select the alternative with the highest value or utility. The difficulty is in establishing the decision maker's objectives and preferences, considering multiple objectives that cannot always be resolved to a single common denominator, developing alternatives and determining consequences of the alternatives.

Decision analysis is typically used to classify items (such as species in threat categories), select from a group (such as a set of reserves from potential habitat) and to rank actions such as management options. Within the INRMP context, selection and ranking options are the most useful. When comparing actions it is important to consider not only the effects, but the magnitude and timing of the effects. Timing can be especially important when considering economic/environmental trade-offs such as short-term economic benefits with long-term environmental costs. Often the long-term predictions, whether they are environmental or economic, have much greater uncertainty than short-term predictions. Differences in time preferences often result in differences in rank order of management options.

Decision analysis takes the broader view of coming to a decision based not only on the facts but the objectives and values of the decision maker(s) (Drechsler and Burgman 2004). Multi-criteria decision analysis considers the positive and negative aspects of multiple points of view. One of the challenges of multi-criteria analysis is amalgamating the sometimes conflicting and subjective preferences of individual stakeholders and decision makers (Figueira et.al. 2005). Realistic problems that require decisions typically include some level of subjectivity (Drechsler and Burgman 2004). While subjectivity is often viewed negatively, all values are inherently subjective. Because of this, subjectivity is often introduced in decisions through the preferences and values of stakeholders and decision makers. Advocates of military readiness, for example, may believe that when military readiness and endangered species protection are in conflict that military readiness should prevail because it has higher value. Conservation advocates could be expected to hold the opposite view. Regardless, while subjectivity should be explicitly addressed in the

decision framework, it is typically viewed negatively and this is not always done.

There can be merit in running through a decision framework using more than one set of values to see exactly where and how often the differences in values result in a different decision (Joubert et al. 1997). Solutions then can focus on the situations where the decisions are affected and not necessarily require wholesale and possibly unrealistic value shifts in stakeholders. Decision analysis can be particularly helpful identifying compromises in situations with multiple stakeholders holding conflicting values. This is known as decision support and relies on clearly identifying stakeholder preferences and options that are consistent with those preferences (Drechsler and Burgman 2004).

The context in which decisions are made can range from simple to complex. Complicating matters in addition to value conflicts is the uncertainty associated with our understanding of ecosystem condition and its response to environmental processes (stressors) and management (Burgman 2005; Drechsler 2004) A third factor that complicates decisions is that they are not all static. Dynamics in decision making occur because values placed on certain outcomes by stakeholders can change over time and the states of the system can change. Adaptive management can help, both when decisions change through time due to system changes as well as when the answer exists but there is so much uncertainty about the state and dynamics of the system that the answer is not clear.

One of the ways that uncertainty is dealt with in decision making is by making conservative decisions. Conservative decisions are called for in the Endangered Species Consultation handbook (USFWS and NMFS 1998). A conservative decision is one that protects against unacceptable or negative outcomes. Conservative decisions address uncertainty by using parameter values that might not be the most likely to occur but are within the realm of possibility and are associated with the worst outcome. Worst case analysis is the most conservative analysis and is applied when there are severe uncertainties. In conservation applications, conservatism is usually justified in terms of avoiding unacceptable outcomes. While conservative decisions can help avoid some negative outcomes there are negative consequences to conservatism as well. These include lost opportunities because of the potentially high economic or social costs associated with the chosen action. The degree of conservatism in a decision typically depends on attitudes to risk, the extent of uncertainty in the problem and the trade-off between costs and benefits. While conservative decisions may be warranted on a case by case basis, the problem with a series of conservative decisions is that they are unlikely to optimize conservation programs because of the opportunity cost to beneficial actions that may otherwise have been taken (Burgman 2005; Halpern 2006).

- A conservative decision is one that protects against unacceptable or negative outcomes. Conservative decisions address uncertainty by using parameter values that might not be the most likely to occur but are within the realm of possibility and are associated with the worst outcome.
- While conservative decisions may be warranted on a case by case basis, the problem with a series of conservative decisions is that they are unlikely to optimize conservation programs because of the opportunity cost to beneficial actions that may otherwise have been taken (Burgman 2005; Halpern 2006).

One of the benefits of considering

different objectives do not have to be reduced to a single common

multiple objectives is that the

denominator such as cost. As

with the value of the persistence

of a species, it can be difficult to

put a monetary value on military

readiness.

12.0 MULTI-CRITERIA DECISION METHODS

As discussed earlier, trade-offs are central to multi-species management. Multi-criteria decision analysis (MCDA) provides a systematic analysis of trade-offs when selecting among alternative management actions. MCDA is a collection of methodologies that sets out to: 1) portray decision maker preferences over multiple criteria; 2) comprehensively compare alternatives with respect to preference criteria; and 3) present the alternatives and their performance across the criteria for the decision maker. With respect to the third point it is important to note that MCDA does not necessarily "solve" a particular problem; rather its strength is in clarifying performance of the alternatives across the objectives and tradeoffs among objectives so that the decision maker can make an informed decision. Decision aiding consists of evaluating the stakeholder's values, goals and objectives; enumerating management options their consequences and risks; structuring the decision process to identify and array values, goals and objectives; fostering cooperation through "mutual understanding" and developing a framework that provides for constructive debate; and clarifying recommendations with results taken from models. This process when done skillfully provides legitimacy (Roy 2005).

One of the benefits of considering multiple objectives is that the different objectives do not have to be reduced to a single common denominator such as cost. As with the value of the persistence of a species, it can be difficult to put a monetary value on military readiness. In fact, the need to make decisions in situations with multiple criteria that are not easily normalized is the rule rather than the exception in natural resources management. Akçakaya (2000) in his work on California Gnatcatcher presents ecological risks and economic costs graphically on separate axes (Figure 15). This depicts the trade-off but doesn't attempt to put an economic value on species persistence. This is left for the decision maker(s).



Figure 15. Risk of extinction (y-axis) vs. costs of conservation alternative (x-axis) (from Akçakaya 2000).

Basing a decision on a single criterion is almost unheard of in this arena where conservation and social agendas often conflict. In some cases criteria can be converted to a common scale, such as currency, but this can give a false sense of objectivity and is often unrealistic. For example, the simplifying assumptions that would have to be made to convert the value of a prepared military and the value of persistence of an endangered species to a common scale such as money would make the resulting values highly unrealistic and suspect due to the difficulty of quantifying such values and conflicting legal mandates. Aggregated indices can cause problems because the metric may be better for one and worse for the other, with the reasons may be totally obscured.

When trade-offs are present there is not a unique solution that returns the highest value for all objectives. In this situation decision makers look for the solutions that cannot be improved on with respect to any one objective without degrading one or more of the remaining objectives. These solutions are known as pareto optimal solutions from the game theory literature (Bierman and Fernandez 1998) and have been used in natural resources policy analyses (Enriquez-Andrade and Vaca-Rodriguez 2004). Figure 16 shows a hypothetical set of solutions for a simplified military situation. This set of pareto optimal solutions shows the range of tradeoffs that must be considered and are the ones that decision makers must consider to select a course of action. The selection of a single solution from the set involves subjective determination of the value of the objectives (Enriquez-Andrade and Vaca-Rodriguez 2004). Note that alternative III is not pareto optimal because alternative II is superior in all objectives except cost where it is equivalent. Alternative III therefore, would never be selected by a rational decision maker.

 When trade-offs are present there is not a unique solution that returns the highest value for all objectives.

Figure 16. Pareto optimal solutions for alternatives with multiple objectives. Yellow highlights indicate the best performing alternative for a given criteria. Blue highlighting indicates the set of pareto optimal solutions. Rank order should be used when a reliable estimate of accuracy cannot be made (Fieberg and Ellner 2001).

Alternatives	Cost	# days w/ training	Probability of	Probability of
		restrictions	Survival species	Survival species
			a (rank order)	b (rank order)
I	1,000,000	<mark>15</mark>	2	1
II	500,000	30	3	<mark>3</mark>
III	500,000	60	1	2
IV	<mark>50,000</mark>	90	<mark>4</mark>	1

In order to decide among the pareto optimal alternatives in Figure 16 multiple factors must be considered. Can the military training be achieved elsewhere and what is the essential number of training days without restrictions at this facility? How much money is available to implement this management plan? The selection of a solution in the above example will reflect subjectivity in how the decision-maker(s) value the objectives.

Another common way to optimize decisions is to develop a framework where one objective like cost is held constant and the other objectives are evaluated in that context. Nicholson and Possingham (2007) used the maximum coverage approach (best conservation outcome for a given budget) to reveal trade-offs between species, conservation and socioeconomic outcomes. In addition, thresholds can be used to ensure that there are no unacceptable outcomes (costs too high, military training too restricted, endangered species risk). Typically in conservation applications we would list management options and optimize; however in our application we must balance or trade off between economics, military training and conservation.

In summary, multi-criteria decision analysis formalizes the selection of compromise solutions, and is designed to clearly display trade-offs in the management options under consideration (Joubert 1997; Munda in Figueira et al. 2005). Multi-criteria analyses, which include multi-attribute value theory, hierarchy of goals and outranking, can be used to analyze goal conflicts in several ways. Multi-attribute value theory considers the utility of each objective and supports compromises through trade-offs between objectives. Hierarchy of goals is a threshold approach comparing actions based on the performance of the most important objective. Outranking allows limited trade-offs between objectives and uses pair wise comparisons of all actions for each objective (Drechsler 2004; Burgman 2005).

The benefits of MCDM include facilitation of public participation, avoidance of the need to convert disparate values to a common scale, and clarification of decision problem by maintaining separate criteria in an accessible format.

12.1 Value Conflicts

Environmental decisions, particularly those involving endangered species, are often made under competing or conflicting social values such as conservation versus property rights or military readiness. The military context is no different where there typically are multiple stakeholders with conflicting values. Playing a role at a minimum are the military with their primary mission of defense readiness; regulatory agencies mandated to protect listed species; and increasingly, non-governmental advocates for conservation. Identifying suites of actions that meet the goals of the military, regulatory agencies and other stakeholders is necessary for progress. Identifying innovative solutions under these circumstances is critical. Decision support tools that establish transparent frameworks help stakeholders clarify key issues and move beyond established positions. When stakeholders better understand each other's needs and the reasoning

Multi-criteria decision analysis formalizes the selection of compromise solutions, and is designed to clearly display tradeoffs in the management options under consideration (Joubert 1997; Munda in Figueira et al. 2005).

- Environmental decisions, particularly those involving endangered species, are often made under competing or conflicting social values such as conservation versus property rights or military readiness.
- Identifying suites of actions that meet the goals of the military, regulatory agencies and other stakeholders is necessary for progress.

behind them they are better able to identify solutions that maximize benefits for all parties (Burgman 2005).

One problem faced by decision makers is that certain value conflicts play out as goal conflicts such as the maintenance of military readiness and conservation of endangered species. This happens because the choice of goals is based on values. For example an active deer hunting program may require prescribed fire with fire return interval that is not optimal for management of a certain endangered species. The hunting advocate may maintain that a specific fire interval is better for the environment whereas the endangered species manager may advocate for a different management scheme. When the goals and objectives are clearly specified these conflicts can be minimized. In this case, the goals should be stated in terms of deer populations and endangered species populations rather than fire return interval. It is important to acknowledge subjectivity upfront and not assume goals or values are objective when they are not. On the other hand legitimate conflicts do occur; for example, different species might inhabit early seral vs. late seral habitats and the decision to enhance habitat for one harms the other. In this case it is unlikely that the underlying issue is differing values, rather, the value here may be persistence of biodiversity and the underlying problem may be uncertainty in that it is not clear which species is in greater need.

12.2 Structuring Decisions to Incorporate Risk Analysis

Because of subjectivity and uncertainty, the risk assessor influences how decision problems are structured or specified. Risk can be thought of both in terms of the magnitude of harm or danger an outcome poses, and in terms of the probability that it might happen within a specific time frame (Burgman 2005). When people hold different values it follows that their perception of the risk posed by the consequences differs. Decisions under risk entail those situations where it is not certain what the state of the environment is but probabilities can be assigned to the likelihood of the occurrence of each different state. Risk is differentiated from uncertainty here because under uncertainty the probability of each state is not known.

The basic framework for decisions is a choice between two or more management actions, each of which will produce one of several outcomes depending on environmental circumstances or the state of the environment. One way uncertainty or risk enters the picture when insufficient information exists about the environmental circumstances to guarantee the outcome. This uncertainty may be in the form of not knowing the number of individuals in a population, not knowing the pattern of a fire within a plant community before it happens or not knowing what the precipitation will be in the coming year. This type of uncertainty is accounted for by assigning probabilities to the states (weather, numbers of individuals, etc.) of the environment. One problem faced by decision makers is that certain value conflicts play out as goal conflicts such as the maintenance of military readiness and conservation of endangered species. This happens because the choice of goals is based on values.

When people hold different values it follows that their perception of the risk posed by the consequences differs. Decision trees are one method that graphically represents a decision framework. They link chains of events from inception to all possible outcomes through a series of mutually exclusive choices (Figure 17). In decision trees the nodes or branch points are either events or decisions. The benefit of a tree is that it clearly and concisely shows the chain of events from beginning to end. Decision trees are a framework that consists of acts or management alternatives, states of the system, and outcomes or effects. Probabilities are typically assigned to each state such as the probability of wildfire. Values are then determined for the outcomes. It is important to remember that subjectivity is included both in the probabilities and values; since it is built into the framework it is not always obvious. Probabilities contain subjectivity because they are often the result of expert opinion and values because they represent preferences of the decision makers and stakeholders. In addition, even when a value is the result of a calculation, what goes into the calculation is a matter of choice. For example, the cost of lost habitat could be chosen to be represented by the cost to recreate it (if feasible). However, the cost of restoration alone ignores the temporal value of the habitat between the time of destruction and restoration. In addition this does not account for the increased risk of extinction over the time that the habitat is being restored. Decisions also involve balancing trade-offs that are not valued in the same currency. For example, the cost of management to reduce the risk of extinction and the value of increased military readiness cannot be reduced to a common currency.

In order to complete the analysis of this information the probabilities and values feed into utilities. Utility is a concept that takes into account the decision maker's preferences, and the chance or probability of a specific outcome. Utilities are subjective not only because they depend on an individual's preferences but because estimates of probabilities are often subjective (Burgman 2005). An example of a species-based utility could be the percentage increase in projected population size as a result of different management scenarios. In this case a population dynamical model for the species could estimate the future increase. The decision maker then chooses the set of actions that lead to the outcome with the highest utility.

The assumptions for using decision trees are that all relevant states are included, the states are mutually exclusive and not changing or interactive, and the probabilities and utilities are correct. Often however, these assumptions are violated. For example, fire and drought might be included as two states that could influence outcomes. The interaction between them may be, in fact is likely to be, more complex than a simple additive relationship. Also, states of the system are not always static and we cannot always predict how they will change.

Figure 17 shows a simple example of a decision tree with probabilities, values and utilities. This example evaluates the controversy over managing an endangered species as a single larger population or as more than one, but smaller, populations. The states in Figure 17 relate to catastrophic storm events. The probability of those events was calculated from historic weather records. To evaluate the options two models are needed one which estimates the population viability when storms occur and the other estimates the population viability when storms do not occur. The model parameters listed in Figure 18 were used.

The models were then run for two scenarios each: 1) a large population with a storm and without a storm; and 2) a small population with a storm and without a storm. The outcome, the probability of population survival, is simply one minus the probability of extinction predicted by the model. The utilities are the probability of a given state (a storm occurring or not) multiplied by the outcome. Then for each of the possible actions, the states, and the utilities are summed to give the maximum expected utility. In this case, given the likelihood of storm events and the vital rates of the populations, the management scenario maintaining two small populations has the highest maximum expected utility.





Model parameter	Without storms	With storm
Growth rate	0.9	0.8
Survival rate	0.7	0.6
Std Dev of R	0.1	0.1
Density dependence	Exponential	Exponential

Figure 18. Model parameters for whooping crane population with and without storms.

Uncertainty enters the decision process through the establishment of probabilities and values. This type of uncertainty derives from incomplete knowledge of the system. For example we may not know precisely the effect of storms. It can also be introduced through errors in the application of management. Perhaps we know with certainty the outcome of a specific management activity, however if it is implemented incorrectly the expected outcome might be a surprise. Probabilities cannot legitimately be assigned to these uncertainties because we do not even know the shape of the distributions. In some cases bounds can be assigned. However when even this cannot be done, information gap theory provides a method for determining which decision is the most robust to uncertainty. In other words, what decision will prevent unacceptable outcomes while maximizing the likelihood of a good outcome?

13.0 DECISIONS UNDER SEVERE UNCERTAINTY

Decision theory typically does not consider uncertainty, when estimating the probabilities assigned to the states of the system (for example the probability of a severe drought) or in the outcomes (how the population of an endangered species will respond to habitat restoration) and in the subsequent utilities. This can lead to significant underestimation of risk. Particularly with endangered species, management decisions are often made under severe uncertainty (Regan et al. 2003). This can be due to small sample size, short-term data sets, or simply a lack of information. For some migratory species, where they spend winters may not be known. When uncertainty is ignored, conservation and management decisions can have adverse unintended consequences (Halpern 2006; Regan et al. 2005).

There are several options to address severe uncertainty. One is to describe the probability distributions for the parameters and randomly select parameters from these distributions. However when uncertainty is severe it may not be possible to characterize the probability distributions for the parameters sufficiently to model them. A method that can be used when the probability distributions are poorly understood as long as the parameter values can be bounded is interval analysis. This involves setting bounds that include all possible parameter values (Regan et al. 2005). However, even this is not always possible. When the uncertainty cannot be described or bounded then information-gap theory (Ben-Haim 2001) can be used to evaluate the effect of uncertainty on reliability of a given decision. While standard decision theory seeks to maximize the

- Particularly with endangered species, management decisions are often made under severe uncertainty (Regan et al. 2003).
- When uncertainty is ignored, conservation and management decisions can have adverse unintended consequences

expected utility, info-gap analysis seeks to maximize the chance that an acceptable outcome is achieved. One benefit of the info-gap approach is that by determining what amount of uncertainty is acceptable before a decision would change it helps to avoid costs in reducing uncertainty of given parameters if that reduction in uncertainty would not change the decision (Halpern 2006). For example, the question might be asked: would additional surveys to improve fledgling mortality estimates change the management approach or not.

Information-gap theory requires a model which mathematically describes a process (such as population dynamics), a model that describes what is known about the uncertainty in the parameters in the process model, and a performance criterion (probability of extinction) which can be calculated using the process model. With these elements the sensitivity of a decision can be evaluated with respect to uncertainties in the parameters and the structure and functions used in the models. It provides the decision maker with information on the susceptibility of the decision to both unacceptable and highly favorable outcomes. This allows the decision maker to tradeoff insurance against undesirable outcomes high performance. One can calculate the maximum level of uncertainty that guarantees that an expected utility is not less that a specified critical threshold (Halpern 2006; Regan et al. 2005).

14.0 SPATIAL DECISION SUPPORT SYSTEMS (SDSS)

SDSS are Decision Support Systems based on Geographic Information Systems designed to enable a flexible analysis of geographic information (Larson 2004). Rather than review the literature, our purpose here is to show how the methods discussed here can integrate with the SDSS in use by DoD for natural resources management issues. NatureServe is an SDSS for much of the Western Hemisphere. The DoD works with NatureServe to develop and analyze information. For example, a recent geographic analysis by NatureServe focused on imperiled species not yet listed under the ESA. This analysis documented the numbers and density of at-risk species on and near installations at the population level. It further documented which species were restricted to DoD lands and which regions of the country had the highest density of imperiled species. This kind of analysis helps DoD prioritize funding and target species which may not yet be regulated and potentially reduce the need to list certain species (NatureServe 2005).

This type of geographic analysis could be enhanced by a population dynamical analysis such as proposed here. The initial analysis might indicate which regions and which species to focus on but a multi-species analysis and plan based on population dynamics can better facilitate choices between management options, and in the case that one species must be favored over another, which species is the appropriate target. Metrics can be viewed from two perspectives. They serve to inform the leadership and the public about what is being accomplished and they serve to remind the organizational team about what is important.

15.0 ECOLOGICAL AND MANAGEMENT STATUS MEASURES (METRICS)

Within the DoD, measures that give the status of natural resources management and INRMP implementation are known as "metrics." These measures are particularly important in light of the requirement that in order for DoD to be able to use INRMPs in lieu of critical habitat designations under the ESA the plans must provide effective conservation benefits to listed species and be implemented. Metrics can be viewed from two perspectives. They serve to inform the leadership and the public about what is being accomplished and they serve to remind the organizational team about what is important. No single measure is generally sufficient to characterize both program implementation and effectiveness of individual program elements. The key is to select a relatively small set of measures that are critical to success. There typically are trade-offs between important aspects of the mission such as long-term investments and short-term returns (Kaplan and Norton 1992). This is also true of natural resources management.

The challenge for metrics is to portray accomplishments and progress towards overall DoD goals as well as specific INRMP goals in meaningful ways. It is important to communicate progress and accomplishments. For example, extinction probability is not a good metric due to high uncertainty, weak link to economic value, and insensitivity to short-term change. In contrast trends in population size, number of populations and amount of habitat could be informative metrics (Balmford 2003). Generally speaking there are two kinds of metrics: activity measures which mark actions that are taken and outcome measures which describe status of the biological elements. Activity measures tell us that we are implementing our plan; outcome measures report plan success. Both are important (TNC 2005). The lack of clear, explicit objectives has been noted to be significant problem in conservation (Sainsbury et al. 2000; Failing and Gregory 2003; Nicholson and Possingham 2007). In fact metrics can be particularly hard to develop when we do not even know the system that well.

The measures chosen to assess the ecological status of target species and communities need to describe success of the selected management strategies and the key processes. Metrics in this context are measures that provide an indication as to whether an organization's goals and objectives are being met and its vision thus implemented. In fact organizational strategy and vision should be at the heart of a metric system. Metrics are inextricably tied to decision making. Accountability (both fiscal and conservation outcome based) demands metrics (Hockings 2003).

The DoD has a two-tiered approach: 1) INRMPs contain goals, objectives and metrics, and 2) INRMPs are collectively evaluated to ensure implementation. The Sikes Act requires activity metrics including annual

 The DoD has a two-tiered approach: 1) INRMPs contain goals, objectives and metrics, and 2) INRMPs are collectively evaluated to ensure implementation. reporting on the number of INRMPs and implementation in terms on expenditures. DoD policy (OSD Guidance "Implementation of SAIA Amendments: Updated Guidance 2002) requires each of the Services to report on measures of merit but leaves the details to each branch. Within DoD metrics function by stakeholder consensus rather than by a conceptual or quantitative model. The Navy has developed their metric system around 7 focus areas that include both activity and outcome metrics:

- 1) Ecosystem integrity
- 2) Fish and Wildlife Management and Public Use
- 3) INRMP Impact on the Installation Mission
- 4) INRMP Project Implementation
- 5) Listed Species and Critical Habitat
- 6) Partnership Effectiveness
- 7) Staffing Adequacy

For each of these areas there are a series of questions that the stakeholder group scores. The scores are tallied and weighted for each focus area resulting in an overall score of: 1) satisfactory, 2) areas of concern and 3) problem areas. These or similar focus areas will be used by the other Services, however they will each develop their own series of questions for their scorecards (P. Boice, pers. comm. 2008).

Models have potential to support the development of objectives that could be used in outcome metrics. Specifically they could be used to identify the most important factors, limiting factors and significant data gaps. For example, considering the focus areas listed above PVAs could be used in developing a number of the rating criteria including:

- 1) Ecosystem Integrity
 - Population Trends of Indicator Species.
- 2) Assessment of Listed Species and Critical Habitat
 - Do INRMP projects contribute to recovery.
 - Do INRMP projects and programs benefit candidate species.
 - Are baseline surveys adequate.

The use of threatened and endangered species as focal species for ecosystem health metrics can be problematic depending on the amount of data available and the health of the particular population. In general the more specific the metrics the more utility they will have in informing adaptive management and defining effective conservation measures (Higgins et al. 2007). In using metrics to assess the success of a program we need to consider whether success in one metric or value can be offset by another. If this is acceptable, multi-criteria methods could be used to evaluate trade-offs between metrics. Typically some degree of compensation between metrics will be acceptable though for the same Models have potential to support the development of objectives that could be used in outcome metrics. reason that a single metric cannot be used to determine success, however failure in one area cannot always be offset by success in another.

Ecosystem health metrics need to consider the relationship between conservation and threats. Metrics address threats in that threats influence what is at risk and needs to be measured. It is important to distinguish between current and future threats. If metapopulations are likely to decrease, stochastic extinction might be a future threat but not a current one. In many cases we need to consider multiple threats. TNC explicitly recognizes the importance of overlap between the status of biodiversity, threats and conservation (Higgins et al. 2007).

Finally it is not always easy to determine what constitutes "truth". For example, subjective responses of land managers are likely to be based on years of field experience and may better capture realities and complexities of ecosystems that short-term quantitative studies. Weiss and Bucuvalas (in Hockings 2003) argue that decision makers should apply both truth (accurate and believable versus absolutely true) and utility tests in judging evaluation information. There tends to be a bias in favor of quantitative data but it is not always more accurate or relevant than qualitative data. Both are subject to error and require interpretation (Hockings 2003).

It is clear that existing, fully protected landscapes are insufficient to protect biodiversity and that inclusion of landscapes with varying degrees of human impact are necessary to conserve biodiversity on earth. The issue then becomes how to manage and how to evaluate (metrics) to determine the degree of management effectiveness and the value towards regional and global conservation. DoD has taken on this responsibility but needs to ensure simultaneously that their primary mission of military preparedness is accomplished.

16.0 ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT

Throughout this report adaptive management is recommended as a validation of management actions selected based on theoretical predictions and thus as a way to develop future management plans. In fact the INRMP process is an adaptive management process. Figure 19 shows a flow chart of the INRMP process as set out in DoD instruction 4715.3 which is clearly adaptive in approach with information obtained after plan implementation fed back into the planning process.

There tends to be a bias in favor of quantitative data but it is not always more accurate or relevant than qualitative data. Both are subject to error and require interpretation (Hockings 2003).



Figure 19. General Conservation Management from DoD Instruction 4715.3

Holling (1978) described adaptive management as a process where stakeholders integrate information on system behavior and project goals, generate alternative objectives, design policies to meet alternatives, systematically test and evaluate the policies and provide feedback to the decision maker. He proposed it as an alternative to "reactive management" with environmental factors integrated at the beginning of a process. Subsequently adaptive management has been characterized as either active or passive. Active adaptive management involves experimental hypothesis testing to evaluate specific policies or management actions and is designed to accelerate learning relative to passive adaptive management which relies on observation and not management experiments (Shea et al. 2002). Others define it more loosely as learning from the outcomes of ongoing management and that it is most effective when management options and policies are compared experimentally (Nyberg and Taylor 1995; Moir and Block 2001).

The central theme in adaptive management is uncertainty. Scientists and politicians view uncertainty from substantially different perspectives. Scientists see it as a system property and seek to understand and quantify uncertainty through experimental design and statistical tools. Politicians and the public on the other hand typically view uncertainty negatively and do not understand it as a normal system property (Clark 2002). As noted earlier uncertainty is what causes risk in the decision process. Adaptive

 Adaptive management mitigates the risks of uncertainty by monitoring the system to test the predictions, validate decisions and change course as warranted. management mitigates the risks of uncertainty by monitoring the system to test the predictions, validate decisions and change course as warranted.

Holling (1978) defines adaptive management as more than trial and error, including hypotheses and experiments. Adaptive management is distinguished by implementation of alternative management scenarios using experimental designs designed to test for differences between treatments while moving forward with management decisions that must be made. For example if it is not clear which method, among several, of exotic plant control might be most effective but control actions must be initiated. The best methods are implemented in an experimental fashion. As information is developed adaptive management programs proceed with incremental iterative experimentation and feedback guiding management (Roe and Van Eeten 2001).

Adaptive management is highly recommended where processes and interactions are poorly understood (Meretsky 2000; Moir and Block 2001), which upon reflection includes most natural systems. It is clear however that it is not appropriate for all cases. Adaptive management is not appropriate where the risks of failure are unacceptable, for example with endangered species, methods cannot be tested which might drive species to extinction (Gunderson 1999). However, in the case of at-risk species often little is known and a course of action must be chosen, even status quo or complete protection is an action. Presumably the choice will be the one that gives the species the highest chance of survival given all the objectives of the decision maker but often the uncertainty surrounding the outcome of the management is high and monitoring the results and adjusting future management to reflect them is imperative.

Adaptive management has been used in a wide variety of natural resources management contexts including: fisheries management (Smith et al. 1998), forest management (Nyberg and Taylor 1995), endangered species management (Wilhere 2002), desertification on the Colorado Plateau (Clements 2004), weed control (Shea et al., 2002), ecological restoration (Thom 1997), and river management (Clark 2002). All of these authors cite uncertainty and system complexity as driving forces behind the adoption of adaptive management techniques.

A number of authors have concluded that adaptive management has been more important as an idea than a practical management tool citing institutional barriers as a key obstruction (Lee 1999; Clark 2002; Wilhere 2002). Fortunately or not, crisis is what often persuades decision makers to act. Adaptive management involves upfront costs and changes or potential changes in the way management is done and it appears that crisis in the form of lawsuits or regulatory pressure is often necessary to force adaptive management. Moir and Block (2001) conclude that failure to adequately design and carry out monitoring programs is the main problem.

They noted that high variation can obscure ecosystem responses, and most monitoring programs are not scaled to capture slow, long-term ecosystem processes. They specify a number of issues that prevent adaptive management from being adequately implemented including institutional barriers, inadequate funding for monitoring, data not available when decisions need to be made, and too many issues are tackled at one time.

One of its strength lies in the fact that it recognizes that uncertainty and complexity are undeniable, highly important components of natural ecosystems. Scientists and natural resource managers know that they are basing opinions and recommendations on best guesses. Therefore a management process that ensures consideration of that uncertainty, by design, has obvious appeal.

Adaptive management has a continued strong role improving in applied ecology; while start up costs due to monitoring may be high, substantial savings have been achieved through the adaptive approach, most demonstrably in weed control (Shea et al. 2002; Lawson et al. 2005). In addition Shea et al. (2002) showed that work done in a management context can make significant contributions to basic ecology.

A paradox in the successful application of adaptive management is that endangered species can prevent implementation because the laws around them are strict and perceived as inflexible. In fact, regulation is one of the crises that can force managers to adopt adaptive management. Endangered species also have the hallmarks of an appropriate target for adaptive management, namely a management crisis and high levels of uncertainty. Perhaps an effective use of adaptive management would be in cases where stakeholders come together to manage a species so that future listings and the costs they entail are not incurred.

Adaptive management programs offer an important opportunity to test mechanisms and processes at larger scales. Hobbs (2003) notes that complicated environmental problems require development of mechanistic understanding of ecosystem properties and processes and understanding how they function at a range of scales. Scientific investigation is often done at much smaller scales than management. At a basic level the methods used to apply a treatment to a square meter plot may not be the same as for a hundred acre management area so that in the case of weed control a different amount of herbicide delivered to a target plant may result. At a more subtle level, phenomena may be scale dependent and the mechanisms operating at one scale may not hold at a different scale. Once mechanisms are understood at small scales they can be used in basic or applied contexts to develop hypotheses to be tested at larger scales in adaptive management programs. Endangered species also have the hallmarks of an appropriate target for adaptive management, namely a management crisis and high levels of uncertainty.

17.0 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

The applied conservation focus of population viability analysis based on population dynamical models has shifted from attempts to develop generalities (Boyce 1992; Shaffer 1990) such as minimum viable population estimates to an emphasis on individual species (Reed et al. 2003; McCarthy et al. 2003). The lack of accuracy in model estimates has been widely debated in the literature and, as a result, modeling advocates recommend the use of relative rather than absolute results (Brook et al. 2002; Lindenmayer et al. 2003; McCarthy et al. 2003; McCarthy et al. 2001).

Relative model results have significant value to conservation decision making because, while they do not allow prediction of a specific number of years to extinction, they do support decisions by predicting which course of action from a set of alternatives will minimize the risk of extinction. They can also be used to prioritize future data collection by identifying what vital rates model results are most sensitive to. PVAs, because they are rigorously structured, facilitate use of all the available data, are transparent and explicit about assumptions, easily repeatable, provide a way to quantify uncertainty or at least in cases where uncertainty is very high, evaluate the effect of uncertainty on the reliability of a given decision (Halpern 2006). One of the main values of PVA is in clarifying the problem (Brook et al. 2002). In fact, models are being used in conservation decision making on military lands (Kaiser et al. 2008).

The heart of modeling, sensitivity analyses, is probably conceptually close to what experts and managers do when they know their data are uncertain. They review what they know and come to a conclusion about what is most likely and then hopefully consider what would happen if they were wrong (alternative parameter values). The advantage of structured sensitivity analysis is that it is more consistent thorough and repeatable.

The simultaneous management of multiple species has become the imperative, not only because of the shift in conservation emphasis to focus on biodiversity (one of primary conservation goals of DoD), but because so many rare species have been officially listed under the federal ESA that trade-offs for habitat and funding have to be made among rare species. Trade-offs are central to balancing mandates to support military preparedness and multi-species conservation. They occur between both the objects of conservation such as species which can occupy the same habitat but require different seral stages and different land uses such as military training and conservation. The Sikes Act in its language governing INRMPs acknowledges trade-offs by saying that implementation of the plans shall result in no net loss military training opportunities. In that case, the word "net" implies that the decision process can include trade-offs between military training, conservation and economics.

Relative model results have significant value to conservation decision making because, while they do not allow prediction of a specific number of years to extinction, they do support decisions by predicting which course of action from a set of alternatives will minimize the risk of extinction.

Structured decision making explicitly facilitates selection among alternatives based on their consequences (Resnik 1987). Decision theory incorporates the values of the decision maker, the risk of the situation and the uncertainty in the outcome. Application of decision tools clarifies the logic and facts that support decisions. Not all decisions call for a methodical application of decision theory. In some cases the choices and outcomes are so limited or clear cut that it is rational to make a direct decision. An immediate need or danger might not allow time to run through a decision analysis, such as the case with a natural disaster like fire or flood. In complex cases where there is time to structure a decision multi-criteria decision methods can clarify complex problems with tradeoffs that cannot be expressed in a common currency. The operative principle is to clarify the facts and trade-offs for the decision maker. Use the simplest method to do that.

The fact is that values enter decision making; they must. When the military decision makers make choices regarding their land management they first and foremost want to optimize the achievement of military readiness. They also want to comply with the Endangered Species Act and other laws and also perhaps have a need in some cases to go above and beyond to garner the support of the public or special interest groups such as NGOs whose mission is to conserve biological diversity. When they do that, it should be a rational decision process in which they get a benefit to their primary need for what they have to offer. For example, a NGO might offer to support a novel regulatory approach provided the result is more species' conservation benefit than would be achieved under the status quo. The military might agree to do more than the minimum legal requirement provided they get more mission flexibility than the status quo. This is what is known as a "win-win."

We face high uncertainty in the management of lands with endangered species. We must make decisions in the face of that uncertainty. The use of PVAs and decision support tools within an adaptive management framework gives us the best chance of acceptable outcomes. The anticipation is that this will take us beyond case-by-case conservative decision making based on fear of extinction and move us towards a series of decisions that are optimal for conservation of species and ecosystems. The degree of conservatism in a decision typically depends on attitudes to risk, the extent of uncertainty in the problem and the trade-off between costs and benefits and perceptions of these can be influenced by agency mission. While conservative decisions may be warranted on a case by case basis, the problem with a series of conservative decisions is that they are unlikely to optimize conservation programs because of the opportunity costs of investing in the target species versus other elements of conservation such as erosion control which may have more long term and or indirect benefits (Burgman 2005; Halpern 2006).

Methods to assess and aggregate impacts from multiple projects or sources within a few projects are needed. The analysis of cumulative effects is a natural progression of simple models for individual species and populations. Separate sets of vital rates need to be estimated for the spatial and temporal extent of the impacts to be considered in the analysis. A caution is that the estimation of additional sets of vital rates and standard deviations introduces more error into the modeling process. However, as stated previously, alternatives to models are not without error but rather it is obscured and the analysis is not as transparent, nor as likely to be internally consistent.

Models could be used to demonstrate that INRMPs are more cost effective, desirable and biologically relevant than managing species through critical habitat designations. In fact the effectiveness of critical habitat designations in conserving endangered species has not been well documented (Hoekstra et al. 2002). The problem then becomes to demonstrate the effectiveness of INRMPs rather than comparing them to critical habitat designation. This can be done by using models to compare the relative value of alternative management and impact scenarios and then using the models and their results in a decision support framework.

The focus of this report has been management of threatened and endangered species. This perspective is narrow compared to the business of ecosystem management but it is a place to start. Models and decision theory can be used for other management questions but in order to successfully institutionalize use these tools, the scope should initially be limited.

Widespread use of PVAs and decision theory in DoD land management will not necessarily be easy. Natural resource managers are often too busy to keep up on the latest literature and to stop and make a significant investment in learning a new process. There will undoubtedly be difficulties and lessons learned in the implementation of models and rigorously structured decision support. For the benefits to be realized the entire process must be implemented especially the adaptive management portion where the models are updated and plans revised. A modeling approach is likely to fail if land managers stop half way through because of resource constraints and try to fall back on model results without the revision and update process. Therefore, it is recommended that several test cases be undertaken to implement these methods. Appendix A contains a series of recommendations for using models in natural resources planning and management. In addition models are worth the effort. They serve as a framework for an adaptive management program, utilizing the data that are collected and ensuring that the data to be collected will most cost effectively contribute to improved predictions. They can be used to test if alternative scenarios which may be cheaper in dollars or training opportunity costs would be as effective.

Models could be used to demonstrate that INRMPs are more cost effective, desirable and biologically relevant than managing species through critical habitat designations.

 Appendix A contains a series of recommendations for using models in natural resources planning and management.

18.0 BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Akçakaya, H.R. (2004). Using Models for Species Conservation and Management. In Species
 Conservation and Management (eds. H.R. Akçakaya, M.A. Burgman, O. Kindvall, C.C. Wood,
 P. Sjogren-Gulve, J.S. Hatfield and M.A. McCarthy). Oxford University Press, New York.
- Akçakaya, H. R. (2000). Conservation and management for multiple species: Integrating field research and modeling into management decisions. Environmental Management 26:S75-S83.
- Akçakaya, H.R., Atwood, J.L., Breininger, D., Collins, C.T., and Duncan, B. (2003). Metapopulation dynamics of the California least tern. Journal of Wildlife Management, 67, 829-842.
- Akçakaya, H.R., Radeloff, V.C., Mlandenoff, D.J., and He, H.S. (2004).Integrating landscape and metapopulation modeling approaches: Viability of the sharp-tailed grouse in a dynamic landscape. Conservation Biology, 18, 526-537.
- Akçakaya, H.R., Burgman, M.A., and Ginzberg, L.R. (1999). Applied Population Ecology Principles and Exercises Using Ramas Ecolab. 285 p. Sinauer Associates, Inc., Sunderland Massachusetts
- Andelman, S. J., and W. F. Fagan. (2000). Umbrellas and flagships: Efficient conservation surrogates or expensive mistakes? Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **97**:5954-5959.
- Asquith, N.M. (2001). Misdirections in conservation biology. Conservation Biology, 15, 345-352.
- Balmford, A., R. E. Green, and M. Jenkins. (2003). Measuring the changing state of nature. Trends In Ecology and Evolution 18:326-330.
- Beissinger, S.R. (2002). Population Viability Analysis: Past, Present, Future. In Population Viability Analysis (eds. S.R. Beissinger and D.R. McCullough), 577 p. The University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Ben-Haim, Y. (2001). Information-gap decision theory. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Bierman H.S. and Fernandez L., (1998).Game Theory with Economic Applications, Addison-Wesley, 2nd ed.
- Boice, P. (2008).pers. com. Department of Defense, Conservation Team Leader.
- Boyce, M.S. (1992).Population Viability Analysis. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 23, 481-506.
- Burgman, M,. (2005).Risks and Decisions for Conservation and Environmental Management. 488 p. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- Brook, B.W., Burgman, M.A., Akçakaya, H.R., O'Grady, J.J., and Frankham, R. (2002).Critiques of PVA ask the wrong questions: Throwing the heuristic baby out with the numerical bath water. Conservation Biology, 16, 262-263.

- Caswell, H. (2001). Matrix population models. Construction, analysis and interpretation. Chicago: Sinauer.
- Cayan, D., E.P. Maurer, M.D. Dettinger, M. Tyree and K. Hayhoe (2008). Climate change scenarios for the California region. Climatic change, 87(s1), 21-S42.
- Christensen N. L. and J.F. Franklin. (1996). Ecosystem processes and ecosystem management. pp. 1-23 In D. Simpson and N.L. Christensen (eds.). 1996. Human Activities and Ecosystem Function. Chapman-Hall, Inc., New York.
- Chesson, P. (2000). Mechanisms of maintenance of species diversity. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 31, 343-366.
- Clark, M.J. (2002).Dealing with uncertainty: adaptive approaches to sustainable river management. Aquatic Conservation-Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 12, 347-363.
- Clements, A. (2004). An ecosystem approach to combat desertification on the Colorado Plateau. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 99, 233-243.
- Coulson, T., Mace, G.M., Hudson, E., and Possingham, H. (2001). The use and abuse of population viability analysis. Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 16, 219-221.
- Crouse, D. T., L. B. Crowder, and H. Caswell. (1987). A Stage-Based Population-Model For Loggerhead Sea-Turtles And Implications For Conservation. Ecology 68:1412-1423.
- Crowder, L. B., D. T. Crouse, S. S. Heppell and T. H. Martin. (1994). Predicting the impact of Turtle Excluder Devices on loggerhead sea turtle populations. Ecological Applications 4: 437-445.
- Drechsler, M. (2004). Model-based conservation decision aiding in the presence of goal conflicts and uncertainty. Biodiversity And Conservation 13:141-164.
- Drechsler, M., and M. A. Burgman. (2004). Combining population viability analysis with decision analysis. Biodiversity And Conservation 13:115-139.
- Dormann, C.F. (2007). Promising the future? Global change projections of species distributions. Basic and Applied Ecology, 8(5), 387-397.
- Ellner, S.P., Fieberg, J., Ludwig, D., and Wilcox, C. (2002).Precision of population viability analysis. Conservation Biology, 16, 258-261.
- Enriquez-Andrade, R. R., and J. G. Vaca-Rodriguez. (2004). Evaluating ecological tradeoffs in fisheries management: a study case for the yellowfin tuna fishery in the Eastern Pacific Ocean. Ecological Economics 48:303-315.
- Failing, L., and R. Gregory. (2003). Ten common mistakes in designing biodiversity indicators for forest policy. Journal Of Environmental Management 68:121-132.

- Fieberg, J. and Ellner, S.P. (2000). When is it meaningful to estimate an extinction probability? Ecology, 81, 2040-2047.
- Fieberg, J. and Ellner, S.P. (2001). Stochastic matrix models for conservation and management: a comparative review of methods. Ecology Letters, 4(3), 244-266.
- Figueira, J., Greco, S., and Ehrgott, M., (2005). "Introduction" In Multiple-criteria Decision Analysis: State of the Art Surveys (eds. Figueira, J., Greco, S., and Ehrgott, M., eds.) pp 1094 Springer, New York
- Fox, J.C., Regan, T.J., Bekessy, S.A., Wintle, B.A., Brown, M.J., Meggs, J.M., Bonham, K., Mesibov, R, and M.A. McCarthy. (2004).Linking landscape ecology and management to population viability analysis. Report 2: Population viability analysis for eleven forest dependent species. Univ of Melbourne (prepared for Forestry Tasmania).
- Franklin, J.F., (1993). Preserving Biodiversity Species, Ecosystems, or Landscapes. Ecological applications, 3(2), 202-205.
- GAO. (2007). Climate Change: Agencies should develop guidance for addressing the effects of federal land and water resources. GAO-07-863. Washinton, D.C.: August 7, 2007.
- GAO. (2003). Military Training: DOD Approach to Managing Encroachment on Training Ranges Still Evolving. GAO-03-621T. Washington, D.C.: April 2, 2003.
- Gitay, H., A. Suarez, and R. Watson (eds.) (2002). Climate Change and Biodiversity. IPCC Technical Paper V. http://www.grida.no/climate/ipcc_tar/biodiv/pdf/bio_eng.pdf
- Guisan, A., and W. Thuiller (2007). Predicting species distribution: offering more than simple habitat models (vol 8, pg 993, 2005). Ecology letters, 10(5), 435-435.
- Gunderson, L. (1999).Resilience, flexibility and adaptive management antidotes for spurious certitude. Conservation Ecology, **3**(1): 7. [online] URL: http://www.consecol.org/vol3/iss1/art7/
- Halpern, B. S., H. M. Regan, H. P. Possingham, and M. A. McCarthy. (2006). Accounting for uncertainty in marine reserve design. Ecology Letters 9:2-11.
- Higgins, J., Unnasch, R., and C. Supples. (2007). Ecoregional status measures version 1.0: framework and technical guidance to estimate effective conservation. The Nature Conservancy, Arlington VA. available online at: conserveonline.org/docs/2007/08/ESRM_Framework_Final.pdf
- Hobbs, N.T. (2003).Challenges and opportunities in integrating ecological knowledge across scales. Forest Ecology and Management, 181, 223-238.
- Hockings, M. (2003). Systems for assessing the effectiveness of management in protected areas. Bioscience 53:823-832.
- Hoekstra, JM. W. F. Fagan, and J.E. Bradley (2002). A critical role for critical habitat in the recovery planning process? Not yet. Ecological applications, 12(3), 701-707.

Holling, C.S. (1978). Adaptive environmental assessment and management. Wiley, New York.

- Joubert, AR, Leiman A, deKlerk HM, Katua S. Aggenback LC (1997). Fynbos (fine bush).vegetation and the supply of water: a comparison of multi-criteria decision analysis and cost-benefit analysis. Ecological economics, 22(2), 123-140.
- Kaiser, Sara A., Brian R. Hudgens, Eric L. Kershner, Kelly Brock, Toni Mizerek and David K. Garcelon. 2008. A management plan for the San Clemente sage sparrow (Amphispiza belli clementeae) on San Clemente Island. Unpublished report prepared by the Institute for Wildlife Studies for the U.S. Navy, Navy Region Southwest, Natural Resources Office, San Diego, California. 157 pp.
- Keith, D.A., H.R. Akçakaya, W. Thuiller, G.F. Midgley, R.G. Pearson, S.J. Phillips, H.M. Regan, M.B. Araujo. (in press). Predicting extinction risks under climate change: coupling stochastic population models with dynamic bioclimatic habitat models. Ecoogy Letters. 5 pp.
- Kaplan, R.S., and D.P. Norton. (1992). The balanced scorecard Measures that drive performance. Harv Bus Rev. 1992 Jan-Feb;70(1):71-9.
- Lambeck, R.J. (1997). Focal species: A multi-species umbrella for nature conservation. Conservation biology, 11(4), 849-856.
- Lawson, D.M., Giessow, J.A., and Giessow, J. (2005), Arundo Control Effectiveness and System Response. In Planning for Biodiversity: Bringing Research and Management Together (ed. B. Kus). USDA Forest Service Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-195.
- Larson, BD. (2004). A spatial decision support system to identify species-specific critical habitats based on size and accessibility using US GAP data. Environmental modelling and software, 19(1), 7-18.
- Lee, K. N. (1999). Appraising adaptive management. Conservation Ecology **3**(2): 3. [online] URL: http://www.consecol.org/vol3/iss2/art3/
- Leslie, M. G.K. Meffe, J.L. Hardesty, and D.L. Adams. (1996). Conserving Biodiversity on Military Lands: A Handbook for Natural Resources Managers.. The Nature Conservancy, Arlington, VA.
- Lindenmayer, DB. (2002). The focal-species approach and landscape restoration: a critique. Conservation biology, 16(2), 338-345.
- Lindenmayer, D.B., Possingham, H.P., Lacy, R.C., McCarthy, M.A., and Pope, M.L. (2003). How accurate are population models? Lessons from landscape-scale tests in a fragmented system. Ecology Letters, 6, 41-47.

Ludwig, D. (1999). Is it meaningful to estimate a probability of extinction? Ecology, 80, 298-310.

- Mills L.S. and M.S. Lindberg (2002). Population Viability Analysis: Past, Present, Future. In Population Viability Analysis (eds S.R. Beissinger and D.R. McCullough), pp. 577. The University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Munda G, (2005). "Multi-criteria decision analysis and sustainable development", in Multiple-criteria Decision Analysis. State of the Art Surveys (eds J. Figueira, S. Greco, M. Ehrgott) 1094 p. Springer, New York
- Nicholson, E. and H.P. Possingham. (2007). Making conservation decisions under uncertainty for the persistence of multiple species. Ecological applications, 17(1), 251-265.
- McCarthy, M.A., Andelman, S.J., and Possingham, H.P. (2003). Reliability of relative predictions in population viability analysis. Conservation Biology, 17, 982-989.
- McCarthy, M.A. and Broome, L.S. (2000). A method for validating stochastic models of population viability: a case study of the mountain pygmy-possum (Burramys parvus). Journal of Animal Ecology, 69, 599-607.
- McCarthy, M.A., Possingham, H.P., Day, J.R., and Tyre, A.J. (2001). Testing the accuracy of population viability analysis. Conservation Biology, 15, 1030-1038.
- Meretsky, V.J., Wegner, D.L., and Stevens, L.E. (2000).Balancing endangered species and ecosystems: A case study of adaptive management in Grand Canyon. Environmental Management, 25, 579-586.
- Moir, W.H. and Block, W.M. (2001). Adaptive management on public lands in the United States: Commitment or rhetoric? Environmental Management, 28, 141-148.

NatureServe (2005). http://www.natureserve.org/ (Accessed April 2005).

- Noss, R.F., and A.Y. Cooperrider. (1994). Saving nature's legacy. Washington, D.C.: Island Press.
- Nyberg, J.B. and Taylor, B. (1995). Applying adaptive management in British Columbia's forests., Vol. 2005. British Columbia, Ministry of Forests.
- Oreskes, N. (2005). The scientific consensus on climate change (vol 306, pg 1686, 2004). Science, 307(5708), 355-355.
- Poiani, K.A, Richter, B.D., Anderson, M.G. and H.E. Richter. (2000). Biodiversity conservation at multiple scales: Functional sites, landscapes, and networks. Bioscience, 50(2), 133-146.
- Reed, D.H., O'Grady, J.J., Brook, B.W., Ballou, J.D., and Frankham, R. (2003). Estimates of minimum viable population sizes for vertebrates and factors influencing those estimates. Biological Conservation, 113, 23-34.
- Regan, H.M., Auld, T.D., Keith, D.A., and Burgman, M.A. (2003). The effects of fire and predators on the long-term persistence of an endangered shrub, Grevillea caleyi. Biological Conservation, 109, 73-83.

- Regan, H.M., Ben-Haim, Y., Landgord, B., Wilson, W.G., Lundberg, P., Andelman, S.J. et al. (2005). Robust decision making under severe uncertainty for conservation management. Ecol. Appl. 15, 1471-1477.
- Regan, T.J., Regan, H.M., Bonham, K., Taylor, R.J., and Burgman, M.A. (2001).Modelling the impact of timber harvesting on a rare carnivorous land snail (Tasmaphena lamproides) in northwest Tasmania, Australia. Ecological Modelling, 139, 253-264.
- Regan, H.M., H.R. Akçakaya, S. Ferson, K.V. Root, S. Carroll and L.R. Ginzburg. (2003). Treatments of uncertainty and variability in ecological risk assessment of single-species populations. Human and Ecological Risk Assessment, 9(4):889-906
- Resnik, M.D. (1987). Choices: An Introduction to Decision Theory. University of Minnesota Press, Minneapolis.
- Roe, E. and Van Eeten, M. (2001). Threshold-based resource management: A framework for comprehensive ecosystem management. Environmental Management, 27, 195-214.
- Roy, B. (2005). "Paradigms and challenges". In Multiple criteria decision analysis. State of the Art Surveys (eds. Figueira, J., Greco, S., and M. Ehrgott) 1094 p., Springer, New York
- Sainsbury, K. J., A. E. Punt, and A. D. M. Smith. (2000). Design of operational management strategies for achieving fishery ecosystem objectives. Ices Journal Of Marine Science 57:731-741.
- Schultz, C.B. and Hammond, P.C. (2003).Using population viability analysis to develop recovery criteria for endangered insects: Case study of the Fender's blue butterfly. Conservation Biology, 17, 1372-1385.
- Schwartz, M.W. (1999). Choosing the appropriate scale of reserves for conservation. Annual review of ecology and systematics, 30, 83-108.
- Shaffer, M.L. (1990). Population Viability Analysis Comment. Conservation Biology, 4, 39-40.
- Shea, K., Possingham, H.P., Murdoch, W.W., and Roush, R. (2002). Active adaptive management in insect pest and weed control: Intervention with a plan for learning. Ecological Applications, 12, 927-936.
- Simberloff, D. (1998). Flagships, umbrellas, and keystones: Is single-species management passé in the landscape era?. Biological conservation, 83(3), 247-257.
- Smith, C.L., Gilden, J., Steel, B.S., and Mrakovcich, K. (1998). Sailing the shoals of adaptive management: The case of salmon in the Pacific Northwest. Environmental Management, 22, 671-681.
- Stein, B.A., Scott, C., and N. Benton (2008). Federal lands and endangered species: The role of military and other federal lands in sustaining biodiversity. Bioscience, 58(4), 339-347.

- Stephens, P.A., Frey-Roos, F., Arnold, W., and Sutherland, W.J. (2002).Model complexity and population predictions. The alpine marmot as a case study. Journal of Animal Ecology, 71, 343-361.
- Thomas, C., A. Cameron, R.E. Green, M. Bakkenes, L.J. Beaumont, Y.C. Collingham, B.F.N. Erasmus, M. Ferreira de Siqueira, A. Grainger, L. Hannah, L. Hughes, B. Huntley, A. S. van Jaarsveld, G.F. Midgley, L. Miles, M.A. Ortega-Huerta, A.T. Peterson, O.L. Phillips and Stephen E. Williams14 (2004). Extinction risk from climate change. Nature, 427(6970), 145-148.
- TNC. (2005). "Conservation activity measures: draft implementation plan." Conservation measures group. Arlington VA: The Nature Conservancy
- Thom, R.M. (2000).Adaptive management of coastal ecosystem restoration projects. Ecological Engineering, 15, 365-372.
- USFWS (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service) and NMFS (National Marine Fisheries Service). (1998). Endangered Species Consultation Handbook: Procedures for Conducting Consultation and Conference Activities Under Section 7 of the Endangered Species Act (page 1-6).
- U.S. Navy. (2007). Integrated Natural Resources Management Plan Naval Weapons Station Seal Beach Detachment Fallbrook Fallbrook, CA 513 pages.
- Wheeler, A.P., P.L. Angermeier, and A.E. Rosenberger (2005). Impacts of new highways and subsequent landscape urbanization on stream habitat and biota. Reviews in fisheries science, 13(3), 141-164.
- Wilhere, G.F. (2002). Adaptive management in habitat conservation plans. Conservation Biology, 16, 20-29.
- Williams, P. H., and M. B. Araujo. (2002). Apples, oranges, and probabilities: Integrating multiple factors into biodiversity conservation with consistency. Environmental Modeling and Assessment 7:139-151.
- Witting, L., J. Tomiuk, and V. Loeschcke. (2000). Modelling the optimal conservation of interacting species. Ecological Modelling 125:123-143.



MULTI-SPECIES MANAGEMENT USING MODELING AND DECISION THEORY:

APPLICATIONS TO INTEGRATED NATURAL RESOURCES MANAGEMENT PLANNING

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS

Use an explicit decision framework such as that shown in figure (A1) and include modeling in the INRMP development. Include model development as part of the INRMP process even if the data only allow for a coarse approach that identifies the most relevant data to collect. Ensure that the data specified to be collected by the INRMP will be used in a model and that it is the most relevant data to collect. The data collected should be prioritized such that it is the most meaningful data to improve model predictions that can be collected with the amount of funding available (Akçakaya 1999).

ANALYSIS AND PLANNING PHASE

Step 1 - Collate data, identify problem, list options.

- 1. Establish objectives and goals.
 - a. This can include long-term persistence of listed species, gaining additional beneficial information about the species, other natural resources management such as hunting, grazing timber extraction, no net loss of military training opportunities (or a specific increase in a given area) or fire management. Focus on multi-species management rather than single species. This list will almost certainly include competing goals and objectives and reveal value conflicts among stakeholders.
- 2. Identify individual species for which models will be developed. Recommend that this list prioritize federally listed species, and as resources are available, expand modeling efforts to other species.
- 3. Select one species to model. (One species would be a simple first step. You could also start with multiple species that perhaps have conflicting habitat needs or compete for other resources.)
 - a. Establish a modeling team of various stakeholders.
 - b. Refine objectives from step 1.1.a above. The objectives need to be clearly and explicitly stated in order to clarify trade-offs in step 7 below.
 - c. Develop a range of management alternatives which may include for example specific habitat improvement practices, fire suppression or prescribed fire, varying land use (including military) scenarios where the intensity, frequency and seasonal timing may vary.

d. Conduct a literature review for current models on the species. Assemble the available data and model structure from both published and grey literature as well as expert opinion.

Step 2 - Determine (or modify) model structure.

Figure A1. Generic woody plant model structure. Ovals signify significant life stages and S are survival within and between stages and F represents fecundities.



1. Determine model structure or alternative model structures using the published and grey literature as well as expert opinion. Alternative model structures may be necessary in the case that so little is known about the species that the appropriate model structure is in doubt. Alternative structures can be evaluated in a sensitivity analysis.

Step 3 - Estimate or refine parameters.

Figure A2. Vital rate matrix. S represents survival parameters and F represents fecundities. The subscripts refer to the stages. Thus, STT is the survival rate for tiny individuals that remain in the tiny size class.

	Tiny	Small	Medium	Large
Tiny	sπ	F _{ST}	F _{MT}	FLT
Small	\mathbf{S}_{TS}	S _{SS}	0	0
Medium	0	S _{SM}	S _{MM}	0
Large	0	0	S _{ML}	SLL

- 1. Estimate parameters (figure A2) using the published and grey literature as well as expert opinion. This means developing models with existing information.
 - a. Estimate parameters (and variance or upper and lower bounds) under current management scenarios. For example for a passerine this might include:
 - Survival rates of the life stages in the model
 - Fecundity of life stages in the model
 - % of juveniles that breed next season
 - standard deviations on the above parameters

- b. Uncertainty can incorporated by estimating likely ranges of parameters and alternative model structures where precise information is not available, and comparing model results to get a range of predictions
- c. Estimate separate sets of parameters and variance for all alternative management and land use scenarios to be evaluated. You may have to rely on expert opinion to develop this.
- d. For a metapopulation model develop a map of occupied and suitable habitat.
- e. Again if there are concerns about the uncertainty in the data or differing published and or expert opinion about parameter values, it should be established at this step. Different stakeholders could be concerned that others are too conservative or liberal in their parameter estimates. This is the place to document that and evaluate the significance of the concerns. It could be that given what is known, the influence of the parameter in question is small. Then during the sensitivity analysis the significance of the differing estimates can be evaluated.

Step 4 - Build (or improve) model.

1. For more advanced applications you can link the population dynamical model to a landscape model (such as Landis) so that your future predictions take into account anticipated habitat dynamics from factors such as fire and flood (figure A3).

Figure A3. Complex model linking demographic models to dynamic landscape models using a habitat suitability model.



2. Test or validate model predictions with data not used to construct the model. In cases where there is not enough data to validate the model at the time it is developed the model should be used to prioritize data collection efforts and then when those used to validate the model and inform future data collection in the adaptive management cycle.

Step 5 - Assess extinction risks and recovery chances.

1. Run model

2. Calculate confidence intervals if possible. If CI's cannot be calculated then only relative model results should be used (Fieberg and Ellner2001).

Step 6 - Perform sensitivity analysis.

Figure A4. Sensitivity analysis.

Parameter	Extinction Risk	
Juvenile survival (SJ)	45%	
(SJ) + 10%	24%	
(SJ) – 10%	55%	

- 1. On model structure if necessary.
- 2. On model parameters (Figure A4).
- 3. Repeat steps 3-5.
- 4. Use this information to develop future data collection priorities based on which parameters the model is most sensitive to, and where the most uncertainty exists. This will help ensure that the data you collect is the data you need the most.

Step 7 - Rank options and select optimal management plans.

The objective in this step is to clearly lay out all the facts and trade-offs for the decision maker. Use the simplest method to clarify facts and trade-offs that works.

Figure A5. Trade-offs in habitat management between the California Gnatcatcher and the Stephens' kangaroo rat (SKR). Wildland fire can convert California Gnatcatcher habitat to SKR habitat.



- 1. Use info-gap analysis to evaluate the effect of uncertainty on the reliability of a given decision when uncertainty is high.
- 2. Use multi-criteria decision analysis methods where trade-offs exist between objectives that cannot be expressed in the same currency such as extinction risk and military training requirements.
 - a. Select the best option from a group.

- b. Rank options.
- c. Graphically present results with two objectives, for example extinction risk and cost.
- d. Display pareto optimal solutions (solutions that are best for a given objective) when there is not a best solution.
- 3. Decision trees.
- 4. Generate tasks for INRMP.
- 5. This is also the step where impacts of alternatives can be evaluated for National Environmental Policy Act documents and Biological Assessments (figure 6).

Figure A6. A hypothetical impact analysis where new vital rates are estimated for habitat fragmented by a road.



ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT PHASE

Step 8 - Implement the management plan.

Step 9 - Long-term Species Monitoring

Step 10 - Evaluate the monitoring data.

- 1. Test model accuracy using the new data collected.
- 2. Feed into ecosystem health metric.
- 3. Loop back to the beginning and revise the model structure if warranted.
- 4. Refine the parameter estimates as necessary and run back through the Decision Framework.
- 5. Revise INRMP tasks as necessary.
- 6. Continue with implementation and monitoring.

MULTI-SPECIES ANALYSIS

- 1. Develop single species models for each species and use one of the methods below.
 - a. Use changes in relative risk of extinction for each species from alternative management/impact scenarios (Fox et.al. 2004).
 - b. Develop weighted habitat suitability maps (Akçakaya 2000).

INCORPORATING CLIMATE CHANGE SCENARIOS (Keith et al. in press)

- 1. Develop single species models for each species.
- 2. Develop habitat suitability models for each species using the present climate as predictor variables.
 - a. Use the HSM to predict habitat suitability under climate change.
 - b. Interpolate habitat suitability maps for each time step of the population model.

3. Model population dynamics by integrating changing habitat suitability at each time step via the maps generated in step 2b.

ECOSYSTEM HEALTH METRIC

- 1. Use of Models for and ecosystem health Metric
- 2. Adopt a set of focal species to cover a range of habitats and ecosystem processes, develop single species models and evaluate management scenarios.

CUMULATIVE EFFECTS ANALYSES

1. Implement steps above to develop models addressing the spatial and temporal extent defined for the cumulative effects analysis in question.